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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held in the Belisario Suite, 
Jamaica Pegasus Hotel, 81 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5, Saint Andrew on Tuesday, the 9th day of May, 2006 at 
10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:
   
1.  To receive the Consolidated Audited Accounts and the Report of the Auditors and Directors for the year 
 ended December 31, 2005 and to consider, if thought fit, the passing of the following resolution:

 Resolution No. 1 – 2005 Directors and Auditors’ Report and Accounts
  THAT the Report of the Directors and Auditors and the audited Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group 
  for the year ended December 31, 2005 now laid before the meeting be received

2.  To declare the interim dividends of 10¢ and 15¢ paid on August 26, 2005 and January 25, 2006 respectively as final  
 for the year and to consider, and if thought fit, the passing of the following resolution:

 Resolution No. 2 – Declaration of Final Dividend
  RESOLVED THAT on the recommendation of the Directors the interim dividends of 10¢ and 15¢ paid to 
  stockholders on August 26, 2005 and January 25, 2006 respectively for the year in review be declared as final 

3.  To re-elect Directors who have retired from office in accordance with Article 90 of the Company’s Articles of   
 Association. The Directors, namely Andrew Cocking and Ryland T. Campbell, being eligible, have offered themselves  
 for re-election. To consider and, if thought fit, the passing of the following resolutions:

 Resolution No. 3 – Re-election of Directors 
  (a) THAT Andrew Cocking, a Director retiring by rotation, be re-elected a Director of the Company
  (b) THAT Ryland T. Campbell, a Director retiring by rotation, be re-elected a Director of the Company

4.  To consider and if thought fit the passing of the following resolution:

 Resolution No. 4 – Payment of Fees to Directors
  THAT the amount of $3.81m shown in the accounts of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2005 as 
   fees paid to Directors for their services during the year be hereby approved

5.  To re-appoint the retiring Auditors and to authorize the Directors to determine their remuneration and to consider, 
 and if thought fit, to pass the following resolution:

 Resolution No. 5 – Re-appointment of Auditors
  THAT DELOITTE & TOUCHE, Chartered Accountants, having agreed to continue in office as Auditors of the   
  Company, be and are hereby appointed to hold such office until the next Annual General Meeting of the   
  Company and that their remuneration be fixed by the Directors

     

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

______________________
ANNA YOUNG FCIS
SECRETARY

Dated February 17, 2006

Note: A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

The attached Proxy form must be completed, impressed with stamp duty of $100 and lodged at the offices of the Company’s Registrar & Transfer Agent, Veritat Corporation,  
6 Duke Street, Kingston, at least 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting ( See inside back cover of Annual Report).

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to submit their Report, the Annual Report and the Consolidated Audited Financial 
Statements for the Bank and its subsidiaries, Capital & Credit Securities Limited and Capital & Credit Fund 
Managers Limited (“the Group”) in respect of the year ended December 31, 2005.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS
                         2005                  2004
                       $(‘000)               $(‘000)

   Total Assets under Management 52,953,244 59,369,270
     Net Revenue   2,216,558   1,644,414
     Net Profit after Tax and Minority Interest    1,161,915      864,913    
     Earnings per share 197¢             147¢

APPROPRIATION OF EARNINGS
Two Interim Dividends were paid during the year as under:
• 10¢ per stock unit approved by the Board on July 15, 2005 and paid to shareholders on record as at                  
 August 12, 2005 on August 26, 2005

• 15¢ per stock unit approved by the Board on December 16, 2005 and paid to shareholders on record as at           
 December 30, 2005 on January 25, 2006.

CORPORATE CHANGES
Following the last Annual General Meeting of the Bank, the Directors on August 10, 2005 in accordance with 
the approved directive of stockholders, authorized a Renounceable Rights Issue of 58.880m ordinary shares in 
the ratio of one new share for every ten stock units held at a price of $20.50 per share. The Rights Issue, which 
opened on October 12, 2005 with a record date of September 2, 2005 closed on November 15, 2005. A total 
of 52,359,682 shares were allotted in the offer bringing the total issued capital of the Bank to 641,159,682 
stock units.

DIRECTORS
Messrs. Ryland T. Campbell, Andrew Cocking, Curtis Martin, Kelvin Roberts, Carroll Thorburn and Mrs Maria 
Jones served as Directors of the Bank during the year. 

In accordance with Article 90 of the Articles of Association, the Directors to retire by rotation are Messrs. Ryland 
T. Campbell and Andrew Cocking. Being eligible, however, they have offered themselves for re-election. 

AUDITORS
The Auditors of the Company, Messrs. Deloitte & Touche, Chartered Accountants of 7 West Avenue, Kingston 
4, have indicated their willingness to continue in office.

The Directors attribute the year’s successful performance to its clients and the efforts of its management and staff 
and take this opportunity to extend their appreciation. 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

____________________
ANNA YOUNG FCIS 
COMPANY SECRETARY

FEBRUARY 17, 2006
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

RYLAND T. CAMPBELL is the Chairman of the 

Board of Directors of the Bank and has been a Director 

since January 12, 1994. In a volunteer capacity, he serves 

as Chairman of the National Development Foundation 

of Jamaica and the National Health Fund and is a 

member of the Board of Management of Mico College 

and the Council of the University of Technology. He is 

also a Director and the Chairman of the Weststar Group 

of Companies and was most recently appointed to the 

Board of Nationwide News Network. A career banker, 

he has held several executive management positions in 

commercial and merchant banking during his over 30 

years in the industry. 

ANDREW B. COCKING is a Civil Engineer who 

holds a MSc in Management and Public Policy. An 

Investment Banker, Mr. Cocking has held several senior 

management positions in international and local merchant 

banks during his 16 years in the banking profession, 

which started in 1985 after serving in technical positions 

in private sector firms and the United States government. 

He is a Director of Cable & Wireless Jamaica Limited, 

Deputy Chairman of the Students’ Loan Bureau and a 

Past-President of the Association of Licensed Financial 

Institutions. Mr. Cocking has been a Director of the 

Company since January 12, 1994 and is also one of the 

Deputy Group Presidents of the Capital & Credit Financial 

Group.

ERNEST CARROLL THORBURN is a retired 

Chartered Accountant and a Fellow of the Institute of 

Chartered Accountants of Jamaica and the Chartered 

Association of Certified Accountants in the United 

Kingdom. He has worked in the accounting field for over 

50 years and has held several chairmanship and directorate 

positions during that time. Mr. Thorburn was appointed to 

the Board of the Bank on April 27, 2001.

KELVIN ROBERTS and Maria Jones were 

appointed to the Board of the Bank on August 17, 2001.

Mr. Roberts is a retired Chartered Accountant with 

over 45 years in auditing, accounting, advisory services 

and human resource management. He is a Fellow of the 

Association of International Accountants (UK) and the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of Jamaica, as well as a 

member of the By-laws and Handbook Committee of the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants of Jamaica.

MARIA JONES formerly Chief Executive Officer of the 

Management Institute for National Development (MIND) 

an Executive Agency of the Government of Jamaica, 

was appointed Permanent Secretary in the Ministry of 

Education Youth & Culture in 2005. She holds a B.Sc 

Management Studies (hons.) degree and is the recipient 

of the Aaron Matalon “AWARD FOR EXCELLENCE” from 

the Institute of Management and Production (now the 

University College of the Caribbean).

 

CURTIS A. MARTIN has been the President and 

Chief Executive Officer of the Bank since 2001 and was 

subsequently appointed to the position of Deputy Group 

President of the Capital & Credit Financial Group. His 

appointment to the Board took effect on April 25, 2003. 

Mr. Martin holds a B.Sc in Management Studies from 

the University of the West Indies and an MBA in Finance  

from Columbia University, USA. He is currently pursuing 

his Doctorate with the Manchester Business School.              

Mr. Martin is also the Deputy Chairman of the Jamaica 

Stock Exchange and a Director of both the United Way 

of Jamaica and Supreme Ventures Limited. He has been 

working in the banking sector for over 25 years.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE
The Committee members comprise of Non-Executive Directors and the Group Consultant. It 
meets on a quarterly basis to review the credentials of Directors, Shareholder Proposals (if 
any); review and make arrangements with management for the convening of an annual strategy 
and budget planning meeting, which is attended by all Directors and Executive Management. 
The Committee also reviews the compensation of Directors and recommends appropriate 
adjustments on the advice of external consultants; establishes and reviews the policy for political 
donations and charitable contributions. Additionally, the Committee recommends and reviews 
the effectiveness of the system of corporate governance including, but not limited to, Board 
programmes, mandates of Board Committees, size and composition of the Board and assesses 
the performance of the Board, including its Committees and monitors Directors’ performance 
with periodic analytical assistance from independent consultants.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Committee is comprised mainly of Non-Executive Directors with meetings held on                       
a bi-monthly basis during each year. It reports on exceptions to the Board on a monthly basis, 
including the non-adherence to internal control policies and procedures, non-compliance with 
governing laws and regulations, fraud and forgeries, write-offs and charge-offs.

CONDUCT REVIEW AND RISK POLICY COMMITTEE
The Committee is comprised of Directors, the majority of whom are Non-Executive. Meetings are 
held quarterly and the Committee’s main responsibility is to review and approve risk principles 
and practices, review and approve the Risk Policies recommended by the Management through 
the Asset/Liability Committees and to make recommendations to the Board of Directors as may 
be appropriate.

HUMAN RESOURCE COMMITTEE
This Committee meets quarterly to review and approve principles and policies for employee 
recruitment, hiring, training, compensation and evaluation; reviews occasionally the Pension 
Plan performance; reviews Management Succession Plans for Executive Officers; reviews the 
major Compensation Policies and makes recommendations to the Board; assesses Executive 
Incentive programmes and makes recommendations to the Board; reviews the position description 
of the CEO and approves the corporate objectives which the CEO is responsible for meeting 
and annually evaluates the CEO’s performance against those objectives. It also determines the 
range of remuneration for staff categories, in consultation with external consultants; approves 
the annual remuneration of the CEO, Executives and Senior Management and reviews with 
management the Annual Performance Incentive to be paid.  

TECHNOLOGY COMMITTEE
The members of the Committee are drawn from Directors and Executive Management. The 
Committee meets on a monthly basis to review the Technology objectives and budgets and 
makes appropriate recommendations to the Board. It also monitors and reviews budgeted 
expenditures and service providers’ performance; strategic and operational plans with 
Management, and evaluates their effectiveness in meeting agreed objectives in terms of user 
requirements, productivity, enhancement and improvements in customer service, product 
development, administrative and functional relevance and efficiency, as well as their benefits 
to the companies. 

CREDIT & INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The members of the Committee are comprised of both Directors and Executive Management. 
The Committee meets monthly to review and approve credit proposals, as well as to review and 
ratify credits extended under management’s discretion.
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THE EXECUTIVE TEAM

JENNIFER ANDERSON
Vice President, 

Human Resource 
Management

ROBERT CLARKE
Senior Vice President,  
Chief Financial Officer

SUZETTE HEMMINGS
Assistant  Vice President, 

Risk & Compliance

MICHELLE
WILSON-REYNOLDS

Vice President, 
Marketing & Corporate 

Affairs

EDMOND MARSH
Senior Vice President, 
Corporate Planning & 

Development

ROSALIE DEANE
Senior Vice President, 

& Chief Technlogy 
Officer

ANN HUTCHINSON
Vice President, 

 Principal Operating Officer

CURTIS MARTIN
Deputy Group President, 

President & CEO, 
Capital & Credit Merchant 

Bank

MICHAEL LEE
 Vice President, 

Asset Management & 
Research

Capital & Credit Merchant Bank Group 
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ADRIAN THOMPSON
Assistant Vice President, 

Financial Controller

RICHARD DYCHE
Executive Vice President, 

General Manager

DEVON BARRETT
Executive Vice President, 

General Manager, 
Capital & Credit Securities Ltd. 

THE EXECUTIVE TEAM

LANCE DUHANEY
Branch Manager

Montego Bay 

MOYA LEIBA-BARNES
Vice President, 

Treasury & Investment

DAVID WEIR
Assistant Vice President, 

Private Clients & 
Portfolio Management

IRAN PYNE
Assistant Vice President, 

     Manager, 
Capital & Credit Fund 

Managers Ltd.

INGRID MACKAY
Assistant Vice President, 

     Treasury & Investments
 

SYDNEY MCLENNON
Branch Manager

Kingston

Capital & Credit Securities Limited 

Capital & Credit Merchant Bank Limited 
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Mr. Ryland T. Campbel
Chairman, 

Group President, 
Capital & Credit Financial Group.

THE CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

In this our twelfth year, Capital 
& Credit Merchant Bank 
has achieved two additional 
historical milestones. Our 
Bank became the first publicly-
listed company to have its 
Rights traded on the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange and further, 
to achieve over One Billion 
Dollars in Profits After Tax for 
the year. These two milestones 
are positive indicators that 
we have emerged from the 
economic challenges of 2005 
stronger and confident that all 
our stakeholders are committed 
to ensuring our continued 
success.
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The Year 2005 was marked by a wobbly Jamaican 
dollar, an escalating oil price, continually rising US 
interest rates and a significant decline in the local 
stock market, all of which had a negative impact on 
businesses. To some extent, some of the Banking 
Group’s assets experienced impairments during the 
year and in particular, the Unit Trust subsidiary 
suffered most.
 
Despite the negatives, our culture of effective 
Corporate Governance, buttressed by a strong Risk 
Management System, has served us well for the 
continued growth and profitability of the Banking 
Group. As a consequence, our Bank now has a 
stronger brand which is beginning to have visibility 
in other CARICOM territories.
 
It is a truism that the financial services sector in 
which our Bank operates is the most highly-regulated 
business sector. Indeed it is the most competitive, 
particularly because of the openness of our market, 
in addition to a high Capital Adequacy requirement. 
In cognizance of these factors our Bank successfully 
raised a net of $1.05 billion under its Rights Issue 
in November 2005 and already commenced the 
building of the new integrated technology platform 
with new product launches under our CARIBVISION 
2010 Strategic Plan.

 
Shareholder Value

Our twin-pronged strategy of building a Customer- 
Centric institution, in tandem with a value-added 
Shareholder Value model, has yielded excellent 
financial results. The Net Profit After Tax of $1.16 
billion, which is 34.73% higher than the $865.32 
million in 2004, has increased Shareholders’ Equity 
by 53.41% to $4.67 billion.
 
The strengthening of our Bank’s Capital Base, by the 
level of increased profits, as well as the additional 
approximately $1 billion from the Rights Issue, has 
provided the leverage platform for expansion and 
growth.
 
For this year, Dividends paid from the Profits 
amounted to $155.05 million and although higher 
than the previous year, reflected the delicate balance 
by which Directors and Management have to engage 
the business model pursued to ensure that there is 
capacity for growth.

 Governance

Our Bank continues to evolve into a financial 
institution operating within the best practices 
framework of internationally acceptable standards. 
The rigorous Risk Management process, the enhanced 
Internal Audit System and process, supported by a 
dynamic Total Quality Management and procedures 
model, as well as a more rigorous staff-selection     
and targetted training programmes, have ‘raised the 
bar’ in the pursuit of excellence in the delivery of 
our products and services and the adherence to our 
values of prudence, professionalism and integrity. We 
continue to interface and have dialogue from time to 
time with our regulators to ensure that our business 
is in compliance with laws and regulations.
 
Our Board of Directors continues to provide the 
vision and guidance, in collaboration with our 
excellent Management Team, to ensure not only 
compliance, but also the efficient management of the 
Banking Group’s assets to enhance the interests of 
our shareholders, our customers and our employees. 
This collaborative model yielded positive benefits 
in the wake of the perplexing external pressures, 
which, for example, higher oil prices and higher US 
interest rates unloaded on the Jamaican economy. 
The result is that we reduced the Balance Sheet by 
nearly $7 billion over the previous year and pursued 
more non-proprietary revenues.
 
Our Board of Directors meets monthly and the 
Committees of the Board meet as scheduled to 
examine, review and monitor all critical aspects of 
the Banking Group’s operations and to engage  a 
pro-active relationship with the management. The 
full Board receives regular periodic reports and, 
as may be necessary after reviewing same with 
Management, issues directives or guidance to the 
Management from time to time in relation to strategic 
and operational objectives and results.
 
 
Corporate Social Responsibility
 
As the bedrock of our existence, we as a Corporate 
Citizen, deliberately engage in specific programmes 
in Sports, Education, Health and other community 
activities. Our Scholarship Programme, for example, 
which was started in 1996, during this year supported 
45 student awardees at all levels of the educational 
system in Jamaica.
 

THE CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Cont’d)
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Our People
 
We have an excellent Management Team, which is 
highly qualified, competent and knowledgeable in the 
business of the domestic and international financial 
markets. Our team members are committed to the values 
of Capital & Credit, which are manifested in the sense of 
belonging and pride with which we hold ourselves.
 
Our Compensation Policy of transparency and 
meritocracy, together with several internal human 
relations programmes, help to foster a culture of 
inclusion and an appetite for self-development and 
excellence. This year our high retention-rate remained 
at over 90%.
 
Our Banking Group has invested in the training of 
our team members through both local and overseas 
institutions and we now have a very promising group of 
employees, which is highly motivated.

 
Outlook for 2006
 
We are positive that whatever may be the economic 
challenges, Capital & Credit Merchant Bank will be 
the ‘Best of Breed’ and will maintain its reputation and 
leadership position in Profitability, Growth, Customer 
Service and Corporate Social Responsibility.
 
By the end of 2006, the new integrated technology will be 
fully operational and several efficiencies and capabilities 
are expected from its utilization, in improving customer 
service, customer access, product competitiveness, as 
well our research and corporate planning.
 
By the beginning of the third quarter of 2006 it is 
expected that certain related company alliances within 
the Capital & Credit Financial Group Limited will 
materialize and will augment the Capital & Credit brand 
and add value to the Bank’s products and services.
 

Appreciation
 
The Capital & Credit team members at all levels have 
made a significant contribution to the achievements of 
2005. We have been encouraged by the strong support 
of the Trinidad and Tobago market although we have 
no business entity there as yet. Capital & Credit looks 
forward to continued and expanded support from our 
sister CARICOM territories and the diaspora.
 
Once again, I am deeply honoured to be leading such 
an excellent team at Capital & Credit. I thank our 
many customers, locally and abroad, our staff and our 
Directors (The Team Members) our shareholders and the 
regulators for their support during the year. I now look 
forward with confidence for a great 2006 for Capital & 
Credit because of your loyalty and support.
 

   

   Ryland T. Campbell
   Chairman   

THE CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Cont’d)
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS OVER 10 YEARS

   

 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
  J$ Million   J$ Million   J$ Million   J$ Million   J$ Million   J$ Million   J$ Million   J$ Million   J$ Million   J$ Million 

 REVENUE           

 Gross revenue   5,883   5,295   4,128   2,722   712   539   459   1,082   1,058   649 
 Net Revenue   2,217   1,644   1,026   653   500   425   389   298   309   208 
          

 PROFITABILITY           

 Profit before tax   1,339   978   555   347   238   215   203   165   175   130 
 Profit after tax   1,157   865   465   287   209   179   141   110   121   86 

 ASSET BASE           

 Total Assets Under Management   52,953   58,960   41,615   30,297   16,232   10,724   9,550   8,763   7,091   5,846 
 Liquid Assets   530   1,812   1,104   605   591   1,044   608   3,597   3,013   2,542 
 Loans (after provision for loan losses)   2,643   2,631   1,830   1,473   982   531   509   181   56   59 

 LIABILITIES           

 Deposits   4,821   4,522   2,155   2,167   1,141   903   803   359   193   77 
 Other Liabilities   42,238   49,834   36,266   26,264   13,064   382   177   3,773   2,975   2,725 

 SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   4,670   3,044   2,089   1,256   952   696   523   381   276   170 

 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS           

 Return on Total Assets Under Management  2.07% 1.72% 1.29% 1.23% 1.55% 1.77% 1.54% 1.39% 1.87% 2.42%
 Return on Average Equity  30.12% 33.70% 27.82% 26.01% 25.40% 29.37% 31.19% 33.49% 54.26% 67.72%
 Earnings Per Stock Unit (Cents) 197 147 84 57 43 36 56 55 115 81
          
 Number of ordinary shares   641,159,682   588,800,000   584,500,000   500,000,000   500,000,000   500,000,000   250,000,000   200,000,000   105,642,414   105,642,414
 
 Shares issued and fully paid $320,580,000  $294,400,000  $292,250,000  $250,000,000  $250,000,000  $250,000,000  $250,000,000  $200,000,000  $105,642,414  $105,642,414
 
 Number - Non cumulative 
   participating preference shares  -     -     -     -     -     -     -     -     46,952,184   39,487,153 

 Value - Non cumulative 
   participating preference shares - -  -  -  -  -  -  -  $46,952,184  $39,487,153 

 Total Share Capital  $320,580,000  $294,400,000  $292,250,000  $250,000,000  $250,000,000  $250,000,000  $250,000,000  $200,000,000  $152,594,598  $145,129,567 

 Efficiency Ratio  39.61% 40.51% 45.93% 46.80% 52.22% 49.36% 47.72% 44.60% 43.38% 37.59%
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The Directors of Capital & Credit Merchant Bank Ltd. (CCMB) are pleased 
to present the audited consolidated results of the Bank and its Subsidiaries, 
Capital & Credit Securities Limited and Capital & Credit Fund Managers 
Limited (previously Jamaica Unit Trust Services Limited) for the year ended 
December 31, 2005.  The Group continues its steady path of growth and 
profitability with an unblemished record of profitability since commencing 
business twelve year ago with a landmark $1.16 billion Profit After Tax for 
the current financial year, an increase of 34.73% over the Annual Profit for 
2004.  The Bank also had a successful Rights Issue, raising approximately 
$1.05 billion in new equity, laying a solid foundation for continued growth 
and profitability for the Group. 

CONSOLIDATED HIGHLIGHTS

  2005  2004
Net Profit After Taxation  $1,157.22 million $865.32 million
Earnings per Stock Unit  197 cents 174 cents
Total Assets Under Management $52.89 billion $59.37 billion
Shareholders’ Equity $4.67 billion $3.30 billion
Return on Equity  30.12% 33.70%
Return on Assets 2.08% 1.72%
Efficiency Ratio (Expense to Income)  39.61% 40.51%

REVENUES

The economic environment presented significant challenges to the Group 
during the year.  Locally, there were low, to declining interest rates, while 
simultaneously experiencing increasing interest rates in the United States.  
Recognizing these challenges, the Group aggressively pursued a strategy of 
building its Non Proprietary Income streams, combined with restructuring of 
its Balance Sheet from mid-year, liquidating low-yielding assets to mitigate 
the impact of the decline in Net Interest Income being experienced in both 
markets within which the Group operates.  

This approach facilitated generating Net Interest Income for the year of 
$1.10 billion, a marginal decline of 2.04% over the 2004 contribution of 
$1.12 billion.  Simultaneously, the Group earned $1.12 billion in Other 
Revenues, up 114.22% over the contribution of $521.04 million of 2004.  
The main components of Other Revenue were Net Gains on Securities 
Trading of $999.43 million and Commissions and Fee Income of $76.10 
million.  These incomes were generated from contributions from the Fixed 
Income and Equities portfolios held within the Group, as well as expanding 
the Stock brokerage activities and management of the Unit Trust funds during 
the year.

REPORT TO SHAREHOLDERS
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its steady path of 

growth and profitability 
to the benefit of all our 

stakeholders”.



The contributions from the Net Interest Income and from Other Revenues 
have combined to provide overall Net Interest Income and Other Revenues 
of $2.22 billion, an increase of 34.79% over the $1.64 billion for 2004.  

NON INTEREST EXPENSES

The Group’s Efficiency Ratio, which tracks Non-Interest Expenses as 
a percentage of revenues, continues to be a leader within the industry.  
Efficiency, measured as a percentage of Non-Interest Expenses to Net Interest 
Income and Other Revenues, continues to average approximately 40% over 
both the current and previous year. For the year, Non-Interest Expenses 
amounted to $878.02 million, compared to $666.16 million for 2004.   

The Group continues to invest significantly in its human capital through 
targeted recruitment and training to facilitate the diversification of income 
streams; the proper management of market and operating risks; as well as 
meeting growing customer needs.  Accordingly, our investment strategy in 
our human capital to build competence among staff of $473.29 million, is 
the most significant operating cost. 

The Group also benefited from the collection on loans to end the year with 
net Loan Loss Recoveries of $9.61 million, as against an expense of $1.94 
million for 2004.  Other key expenditures for the Group includes Marketing 
and Corporate Affairs at $126.32 million, Property Expenses at $78.07 
million and Information Technology costs of $37.50 million. 

 

EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT

For the year, the Earnings per Stock Unit amounts to 197 cents, a 34.11% 
increase over the 147 cents of 2004.  Earnings per Stock Unit for the year 
is based on the Net Profit attributable to stockholders of the Bank and 
the weighted average number of shares in issue of 591,238,670 units for 
the year, after considering the increase in Share Capital arising from the 
new shares issues consequent to the Rights Issue undertaken in the fourth 
quarter 2005.  For 2004, the Earnings per Stock Unit was calculated on the 
basis of an average of 591,238,000 shares held during that year. With the 
Rights Issue effected for December 2005, the Bank closed the year with 
641,159,682 ordinary stock units in issue, compared to 588,800,000 stock 
units for December 31, 2004.

BALANCE SHEET

In pursuit of the strategy to sell off low-yielding assets, the Group trimmed 
its overall Balance Sheet size as at December 31, 2005, to $52.95 billion, 
a decline of 10.92% over the year-end value for 2004.  Of this portfolio, 
$47.23 billion is invested in Investments in Securities and $2.64 billion in 
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Loans.  The Balance Sheet is primarily funded by $39.58 billion 
of Securities Sold Under Repurchase Agreements, Deposits of 
$4.82 billion and the Capital Base of $4.67 billion.  

In addition, the Group manages on a fiduciary basis, approximately 
$2.59 billion in Assets Under Management, primarily in respect 
of the funds managed by the subsidiary, Capital & Credit Fund 
Managers Limited.    

LOAN PORTFOLIO

Loans at December 31, 2005 after Provision for Loan Losses, 
amounted to $2.64 billion.  During the year, the Bank provided 
an additional cost of $1.64 million in Loss Expense and was able 
to recover approximately $10.77 million in amounts that had been 
previously recognised as doubtful.  Accordingly, the Bank reflects 
Net Loan Loss Recoveries of $9.61million for the year.  Non- 
performing loans at December 31, 2005 amounted to $329.98 
million or approximately 12.38% of total Loans and 0.62% of 
total Assets, compared to 1.24% and 0.06 %, respectively, for 
the prior year.

Provision for Loan Losses are considered adequate and are 
reviewed regularly in regards to current market conditions and 
the status of the creditor.   At year-end only general provision was 
made for certain non-accrual loans, as the Bank had received 
confirmation of recovery of $260 million of the debt by way of 
collection from the Commissioner of Lands.  Subsequent to year 
end, the Bank collected on this debt.

As required under International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), the Loan Loss Provision at December 31, 2005, is $218.24 
million, representing 0.68% of gross loans, compared to loan 
loss provision of $30.49 million or 1.15% of gross loans for the 
previous year end.   

IFRS Loan Loss Provision is determined on a different basis 
from Regulatory requirements. The difference between the 
methodologies is applied to a non-distributable Loan Loss Reserve 
in the Equity component of the Balance Sheet. At December 
31, 2005, the Reserve amounted to $18.24 million, compared 
to $20.70 million for the previous year end. Consequently, the 
Provisions are considered adequate.

CAPITAL BASE

At December 31, 2005 total Stockholders’ Equity amounted to 
$ 4.67 billion, an increase of 53.41% since year end December 
2004. The strengthening of the Capital Base has been facilitated 
through both the conduct of the Rights Issue and growth in 
Earnings.    

At the Annual General Meeting held May 25, 2005, the authorized 
Share Capital of the Bank was increased from $300 million, to 
$400 million. The meeting gave approval to the Directors to 
make a Renounceable Rights Issue to the Stockholders from these 
additional shares. The Rights Issue opened to stockholders on 
October 15, 2005 and closed on November 14, 2005. Arising 
from the issue, 52.89 million new shares were issued, increasing 
the Capital Base by approximately $1.05 billion after Expenses. 

The Group also earned approximately $1.16 billion in Net Profit 
for the year. From this amount, Dividends of $155.05 million 
have been allocated, along with the transfer of approximately 
$71.39 million to Statutory Reserve as annually required by the 
Financial Institution Act. The growth in the Capital Base has been 
constrained by unrealized losses in market values of available-
for-sale financial instruments. At year-end, the Fair Value Reserve 
includes a negative value of $206.91 million. 
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Capital Management is a critical objective of the Group, given its 
ongoing growth and expansion and requires balancing the needs 
for strong, competitive ratio, reasonable returns to shareholders 
and compliance with regulatory capital requirements.  In striving 
for this balance, the Group considers the expected level of risk 
adjusted assets, future investment opportunities and funding 
options available.

The Group is committed to maintaining strong capital ratios via 
internally generated funds, the controlled growth of investments 
and risk-adjusted assets, while simultaneously adding capital to 
Shareholders’ Equity. To aid the strategy of Capital Management. 

DIVIDENDS

A first interim dividend of 10 cents per stock unit was made to 
stockholders on record as at August 12, 2005.  Payment totaling 
$58.88 million was made to stockholders on August 26, 2005.

At the Directors Meeting of December 16, 2005, a second interim 
dividend of 15 cents per stock unit was approved for stockholders 
on record as at December 30, 2005.  Payment of dividends totaling 
$96.17 million to stockholders was made on January 26, 2006. 

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group continues to manage risk strategically, to optimize the 
risk/return equation with a view to protecting depositors, investors 
and building Shareholder Value.  Effective Risk Management is 
embedded in risk culture, throughout the organization, supported 
by appropriate strategies, policies, processes and delegated 
authority within the organization.  

The Board sets the overall risk strategies, policies and limits.    
The Conduct Review & Risk Committee, a sub-committee of the 
Board, sets the parameter for the organization enterprise-wide risk 
management practices, while the Asset and Liability Committee 
(ALCO), the management sub-committee, manages market and 
liquidity risk on an ongoing basis.  Our activities and risks are 
independently checked and monitored by the Audit Committee, 
while the development and management of technology issues are 
guided by the Technology Committee.

The Group’s activities are principally related to the use of financial 
instruments.  The Group accepts deposits from customers at both 
fixed and floating rates and for various periods and actively manages 
its interest rate exposures within the objective of enhancing Net 
Interest Income within prudent risk tolerances.

The Group also seeks to increase these margins by consolidating 
short-term funds and investing for longer periods, while maintaining 
sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that may fall due.

The Group also seeks to raise its interest margins by obtaining 
competitive margins, net of provisions, through lending to 
commercial and retail borrowers with a range of credit standing.  
Such exposures involve not just loans and advances; the Group 
also enters into guarantees and other commitments such as Letters 
of Credit.

The Group also trades in financial instruments where it takes 
positions in order to take advantage of short-term market 
movements in securities prices and in foreign exchange and 
interest rates.  The Board places trading limits on the level of 
exposure that can be taken in relation to both overnight and intra-
day market positions.
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Market risks exposures and limits are established in the Group’s 
Investment policy and the supporting ALCO policy and are 
reviewed periodically by both the ALCO and Conducts Review 
and Risk Policy Committee.

Interest Rate and Liquidity Risk 

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group will be unable to 
meet its obligations as they fall due, and also the risks that the 
Group’s growth will be restricted to due to funding constraints. 

Interest rate risk arises from the mis-match of positions between 
assets and liabilities, which are subject to interest rate movements 
within a defined period. This mis-match may result in the risk of 
the liabilities re-pricing earlier than the assets, which in a period 
of rising interest rates increases the risk of loss of earnings and 
reduction in asset values for the Group.

Local Market

The Group has adopted certain investment and funding strategies 
that have enabled and will allow it to remain viable and 
profitable in periods of high interest rate volatility on the local 
market.   Additionally, the Group benefits from the intimacy of the 
knowledge and skills held by its senior management of the fiscal 
and monetary policies adopted by the local government from time 
to time. A mixture of fixed and variable rate instruments acquired 
by the Group allows it to balance the exposure from rising interest 
rates on the relatively short-term funding available in the local 
market. The absence of a formal market for hedge instruments 
locally, makes this the best possible option to the market at this 
time.

International Market

The Group and particularly the Bank, in order to create balance in 
its investment portfolio and to reduce the exposure to market risk 
locally, holds significant investments in bonds and notes issued 
on the US market.   These instruments are issued both by the US 
government and certain corporate and supranational entities.

The exposure to Credit Risk arising from these investments is 
adequately managed by limiting the assets to a specific grade, 
based on the official ratings of Moody’s and Standards & Poor 
rating system, as well as timely reviews of the issuers. There is 
however, a considerable amount of exposure to interest rate 
risks. 

These result from the following:

* The assets are largely acquired using funding through margin 
and Repo accounts with US Brokers at a floating interest rate. This 
reduces the Net Income from these assets in rising US interest rate 
environment.

* Investments in US Government paper by virtue of its risk-free 
rating offers a fairly low coupon compared to Corporate Debt with 
higher credit risks and hence higher returns. Additionally, these 
debts are longer-term debts and therefore carry a higher duration 
and greater risks. This results in significant fluctuations in market 
prices in a rising interest rate environment.

* Given the inverse relationship between interest rates and bond 
prices, the Bank is exposed to risk from margin calls as the price of 
bonds fall from increased rates.   As a result of this exposure, the 
Bank has found it necessary and has taken a decision to employ 
transactions as economic hedges to protect its investment portfolio 
from market value movements and the resulting margin calls from 
falling prices.

* During this financial year, the institution engaged in short sale 
transactions to hedge its portfolio. The cost of carrying this short 
position is reflected in the Profit and Loss Account as part of Net 
Gains on Securities Trading.   These transactions have effectively 
reduced the net duration of the investment portfolio and the likely 
margin calls from bond price fluctuation.

* In keeping with IFRS, the Group on a periodic basis, measures 
the effectiveness of the hedging strategy of its portfolio and on 
a quarterly basis this efficiency is measured and the necessary 
accounting entries are reflected both on the Balance Sheet and 
the Statement of Profit and Loss.   Any ineffective portion of any 
existing hedging strategy/instrument at year end is adequately 
accounted for and reported to the Board.

* The appropriateness of the hedging strategy is constantly reviewed 
by management and timely actions taken to either change strategy 
or remove the hedge where necessary.

Foreign Currency Risks

Foreign currency risks arise from trading and investment activities 
carried out by the Bank and its subsidiaries in the ordinary course 
of operations.   In its trading activities, the Bank buys and sells 
currencies in the spot market to and from various customers.   
Foreign exchange gains and losses from these activities are reflected 
in Other Revenues.   Additionally, the Group from time to time 
by virtue of the mis-match of assets and liabilities will carry either 
a short or long position, based on limits approved by the Board, 
in line with Management’s risk appetite for foreign exchange 
exposure. Gains and losses arising from revaluations from these 
positions are reflected also in the Profit and Loss Statement.
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Credit Risk

The Credit & Investment Committee is the sub-committee of 
the Board that sets Counterparty Limits and approves all credit 
facilities.  The committee is guided by established credit policies, 
procedures and limits.  The management of credit exposure 
is guided by effective portfolio diversification across clients, 
industries and sectors.

Operational Risk

This is the risk of loss from inadequate or failed process, practices, 
human performance and technology or business strategies or from 
external events. Its impact can be both financial and non-financial: 
for example damage to reputation or loss of competitive position.  
The breath of this definition spells outs its magnitude and while 
no company can ever fully eliminate this risk, the development of 
business continuity and recovery strategies are employed by the 
Group to mitigate possible damage.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Capital & Credit Merchant Bank Ltd and its subsidiaries continue 
their plan of solidifying income streams by growing non-proprietary 
business and at the same time, enhancing its Net Interest Income 
by diversifying into assets with higher net-interest spreads.  We 
expect that these initiatives will ensure the continued growth in 
our profitability for the year 2006.

The Bank has also commissioned, at a capital cost of approximately 
$256 million, new technology intended to achieve real-time 
solutions. The project, which commenced in the last quarter of the 
year, is expected to enhance both customer service and corporate 
competence, while strengthening the business model for sustained 
growth and profitability. 
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The year 2005 produced an active and memorable calendar of 

events for Capital & Credit Merchant Bank and its subsidiaries 

with several significant corporate milestone events; business 

and social activities. 

Capital & Credit Fund Managers Ltd. Launched
CMMB started its 11th year in business and service with the 

formal launch of its new subsidiary, Capital & Credit Fund 

Managers (CCFM), formerly the Jamaica Unit Trust.  The 

Company which was acquired in 2004, was officially launched 

on March 7, 2005 and provides 3 new investment options 

through its Giltedge Fund, Income & Growth Fund and Capital 

Growth Fund products, thus broadening the range of products 

and services of the Capital & Credit Financial Group.

Annual General Meeting
Shareholders in Jamaica and Trinidad & Tobago, as well as those 

connected to the World Wide Web, were given an opportunity 

to share in the Merchant Bank’s 2nd annual General Meeting, 

held at the Knutsford Court Hotel in Kingston, which was also 

video-streamed to remote locations in Jamaica and Trinidad, 

as well as on the Company’s website.  

At the AGM held on May 10, 2005, the shareholders attending 

approved the proposal of the Board of Directors to increase the 

Company’s Share Capital to $400 million, up from $300 million 

by the creation of an additional 200,000,000 ordinary shares.  

This was one of eight resolutions that received the affirmative 

vote of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting, where the 

decision was also taken to authorize the Board of Directors to 

make the Rights Issue renounceable to shareholders.

Historic Rights Issue launched
On October 12, 2005, CCMB achieved yet another historic 

milestone with the launch of its Renouncable Rights Issue. This 

had the effect of shifting the plates of the Jamaican financial 

landscape: Capital and & Credit Merchant Bank Ltd.  – the 

first Jamaican Merchant Bank to be listed on the Jamaica 

and Trinidad & Tobago Stock Exchanges – also became the 

first company to have its rights traded on the Jamaica Stock 

Exchange.

As CCMB’s President & CEO, Curtis Martin, explained, the 

purpose of this historic undertaking is to “provide a an optimal 

capital structure for continued growth, and in particular, to 

provide a 20% buffer with regard to the capital to assets ratio, 

as well as a buffer on margin requirements for the trading of 

securities.”
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Mrs. Joyce Lamb, loyal customer of the former Jamaica Unit Trust, now CCFM, cuts 
the ribbon to mark the official opening. Looking on from left to right:  Messrs. Curtis 
Martin (Deputy Group President & CEO, CCMB), Iran Pyne (Assistant Vice-President 
& General Manager, CCFM), Ryland Campbell (Chairman & CEO, CCFG) and 
Anglican Bishop Robert Thompson.

“Capital Management is 
a critical objective of the 
Group, given its ongoing 
growth and expansion”.



When the Rights Issue came to a close on November 15, CCMB, 

against all the odds in a very fragile financial market which had 

been showing massive declines on the Jamaica Stock Exchange 

and a falling exchange rate, was able to raise over J$1 billion, or 

approximately 89% of the J$1.2 billion that it had sought from the 

nearly 59 million shares offered to the market.  As Chairman and 

CEO of the Capital & Credit Financial Group, Ryland T. Campbell, 

put it “…The strong support by our shareholders is testimony to the 

confidence they have in the future of Capital & Credit. “

Customer Service & Product Development
During 2005 CCMB’s customers remained at the centre of 

attention. Capital & Credit continued to develop and refine its 

customer service delivery systems and its product offerings with 

customers in mind. Considerable improvements were made to 

the Organization’s internal processes, which resulted in benefits 

accruing to the Bank’s customers by way of reduced waiting times 

and excellent service delivered with a smile.

Capital & Credit operates within a highly-regulated industry and 

is conscious of the need to satisfy all it’s stakeholders. Every effort 

is made to ensure full compliance with regulations even as the 

compliance process is made more straightforward for customers. 

In this regard, communication is critical and the organazition 

continues to use varying methods to communicate with  customers 

and keep them abreast of new requirements as they occur.
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Chairman, Ryland T. Campbell, addresses a question from a shareholder 
at the AGM. He is flanked by (L-R) SVP & Chief Financial Officer, Robert 
Clarke; Company Secretary; Anna Young and CCMB President, Curtis 
Martin

Chairman, Ryland T. Campbell, fields questions posed by 
attendees at the AGM



Having regard for the comfort and confidentiality of its service 

delivery points, the offices were redesigned at two locations in 

Montego Bay and Kingston. As a result of these changes, Capital 

& Credit is better able to accommodate its customers in greater 

privacy and this has received very favourable responses.

The goal for 2006 is to continue to explore and evolve as the 

organazition employs new and innovative processes to delight 

customers. Capital & Credit looks forward to the continuation of 

excellence in service delivery.

New Products and Services launched
A hallmark of the year 2005 was the exciting range of new loan 

and deposit products that was launched by the Merchant Bank. 

These products have greatly enhanced CCMB’s product mix and 

have expanded the options available to it’s customers.

Between the time of the Shareholders’ decision to approve the 

Rights Issue in May and the close of the Rights Issue near to 

the end of the year under review, Capital & Credit Merchant 

Bank continued to make its mark in the financial marketplace 

with the launch of four new deposit products. In August 2005, 

the Bank launched two new and innovative fixed deposit 

products: The Capital Advantage Gold and Capital Advantage 

Platinum accounts, which give investors a unique benefit –  the 

opportunity of receiving interest on their accounts at the start of 

the deposit period.

Then, in the fourth quarter of the year, the Bank introduced 

the Capital Supersaver and Capital Golden Maximizer US dollar 

Accounts…the former, offering money market interest rates in 

a savings account for depositors and the latter, offering time-

based, attractive rates of return in United States dollars on U.S. 

dollar deposits.  In addition, new alliances were formed with 

suppliers which affords customers the opportunities to access 

loan funds to purchase motor vehicles on very favourable terms 

and to obtain higher insurance coverage on amounts borrowed.

Information Technology
In 2005, efforts continued to build on the ground work commenced 

in 2004:  Capital & Credit made its biggest investment in new 

technology since the inception of the organisation.  Contracts 

were signed with the Swiss-based company, Temenos, for 

the provision of a new banking and investment management 

application for the Group.  The Bank also entered into contracts 

for a new hardware platform from IBM to support the new 

banking system.
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CCFG  Chairman, Ryland T. Campbell, engages financial analysts, John 
Jackson (Left) & Ralston Hyman (Right), at the launch of the Capital 
Advantage Accounts.

The Capital & Credit team confer at the launch of the Capital Advantage Gold & 
Platinum accounts. Pictured left to right: Personal Banking Manager, Owen Ferguson, 
CCMB President, Curtis Martin, V.P., Marketing & Corporate Affairs, Michelle Wilson-
Reynolds and Chairman, Ryland T. Campbell .

“A prime goal is to deliver 
the broadest possible range 
of innovative products”.



As a part of its drive to serve customers better, new websites were 

also launched for all the member companies in the Capital & Credit 

Financial Group.  The new websites provide rich content to visitors 

and market data to facilitate client-investment decisions.

In a continued effort to be more efficient, CCMB developed a new 

Securities Management System to manage its large portfolio of 

investment assets and repurchase agreements.  Management of FSC 

margin guidelines, assignment of securities, whether of the same 

currency or across currencies, as well as customer preferences, are 

all automatically handled by the new application.  This has greatly 

improved the efficiency of the Securities Trading departments of the 

Bank and its subsidiary. 

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT
On the Human Resources front, the Bank continued the 

implementation of innovative strategic initiatives which resulted in 

the establishment of a fully-fledged Research & Asset Management 

Unit; the completion and expansion of the Risk Management Unit; 

and a complete overhaul of its Sales and Customer Service Structure, 

spanning all four subsidiaries. This resulted in a dynamic, efficient and 

flexible differentiated Sales and Customer Relationship Management 

platform, which had an extremely positive impact on the Company’s 

overall performance. The Organization’s growth in both business and 

employee complement, resulted in its continued rating as one of the 

top Employers of Choice in Jamaica.

Employees have demonstrated even greater ‘buy-in’ to the Organization, 

not just through effort, but also through their desire to own shares. The 

Capital & Credit Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) continued to 

enjoy a 99% participation rate for the third year, with more and more 

employees expressing an interest in joining the Plan.   

Recruitment & Training
In order to achieve the over-arching priority goal of creating and 

sustaining long-term value through continued development and 

skills-enhancement of its human capital, the Bank promoted and 

encouraged employees to participate in specialized competency-

based certification programmes in the Canadian Securities Course, and 

Portfolio, Wealth & Treasury Management courses via e-learning from 

local and overseas training facilities.  This resulted in the building and 

expansion of capability, which enhanced productivity.  Continued 

efforts are being made to improve the cross-training mechanism and to 

develop distinctive competencies in proactive cross-selling techniques 

throughout the organization. 
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“Our technology is geared 
toward enhancing both 
customer service and 

corporate competence”.

Deputy Group Presidents, Andrew Cocking (Second left) & Curtis Martin (beside him), 
are all smiles as they sign the aggrement with Temenos to provide new technology 
services to Capital & Credit.  Temenos Americas President, Alex Groenendyk (Left), 
and SVP Corporate Planning, Edmond Marsh (Right), look on.



“We are 
developing 
our Human 
Resources”.

Workforce development through education and exposure also continued  

throughout 2005. The Bank partnered with two Kingston-based Universities 

by participating in their Summer Internship programmes, allowing for the 

employment of young, bright, dedicated second and final-year Banking, 

Finance and Business students, who were trained and given hands-on 

exposure in various aspects of banking and investments practices.  This 

resulted in the expansion of the Officer-Trainee Programme, which is 

already paying great dividends. 

In addition to selective recruitment strategies, the Bank has also embarked 

on a re-skilling programme in Client Relationship Management, to 

complement its organization-wide Advanced Customer Service thrust to 

ensure the delivery of exceptional customer service. 

Employee Recognition & Satisfaction
While continued efforts were made to train the Organization’s Managers to 

lead effectively, through workshops focussing on Communication, Conflict 

Management, Coaching and Improved Interpersonal Relationships, Capital 

& Credit resolved, and was able to introduce some new HR policies to 

support, guide and build employee satisfaction.  These included Work-life 

Balance Policies & Programmes such as Flexible Working Arrangements; 

Health & Safety and Wellness & Fitness Programmes. 

The Human Resource Information System, HRIS, is up and running and staff 

members can access H.R. policies, training programmes and initiatives on 

the Intranet.

All-island staff meetings were held in the year under review to give employees 

separated by distance, a chance to participate fully in the discussions on the 

Bank’s strategic plans and directions.  The response was overwhelmingly 

positive and these meetings will continue on a quarterly basis in 2006 as a 

means of boosting internal communications.

Long Service and Staff Achievement Awards
The Capital & Credit Financial Group held its second Long Service & Staff 

Recognition for Excellence Awards function on May 28, 2005 and the Capital 

Appreciation Programme (CAP) Awards ceremony was truly a celebration 

of employee achievement.  

Employees were rewarded 

for their commitment, 

dedication and invaluable 

contribution to the growth 

and development of the 

Organization. 

Guest Speaker at CCFG’s CAP Awards, Chief-of-Staff of the 
Jamaica Defence Force, Rear-Admiral, Hardley Lewin.

CCMB Kingston’s, Dwayne Dawkins, is congratulated by CCMB 
Director, Maria Jones, for 5 years of service.
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CCMB Montego Bay’s, Christine Subaran-Lewis, receives the 
Chairman’s Award for Community Service.
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A glittering ceremony decorated with a Jamaican theme, was held at the 

Jamaica Pegasus Hotel in Kingston and employees were specially recognized 

for their various achievements.  Categories for which prizes were awarded 

included outstanding Sales Achievement; Excellence in Customer Service; 

Leadership, Dedication & Commitment; Most Outstanding Academic 

Achievement; Community Involvement and Employee of the Year.  

Additionally, employees who have rendered service to Capital & Credit for 

five or ten years were also specially recognized.  

Staff Fun Day
The members of the Capital & Credit family amply demonstrated in August 

that they are not only good at providing total financial solutions, but also 

keen at having a good time. James Bond Beach in St. Mary was the location 

for the Annual Staff Fun Day and a good time was had by all. 

With the guidance of the Public Relations Internal Programme (PRIP) 

Committee, participants were organized into competitive groups for football, 

newspaper-dancing, bun-eating, beverage-drinking and other competitions.   

Between these activities, karaoke performances, fine food and relaxation in 

the soothing waters, the Fun Day was a testament to the great importance 

of fine fellowship. 

Staff Outreach

Employees are encouraged to participate in Community Service Projects 

and over 2005 remained active through the Staff Outreach Programme. Staff 

Outreach Committee members adopted two children’s homes, for which 

they provided food, clothing, books, toys and mentoring to the boys and 

girls in the homes.  
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Staff Outreach Committee member, Jacqueline Brown, presents a gift 
to a ward of the St. Andrew Girls Home. Staff Outreach Committee 
President, Latoya Flemming, (centre) looks on.

Staff enjoying Fun Day 2005.



“We consistently try 
to promote a better, 
more caring society 

through contributions 
to National 

Development”.

Members of the Capital & Credit family cleaned the 
Palisadoes Beachfront on Labour Day.

“…Faith without works is dead…”

Capital & Credit’s commitment to the development of Jamaica was 
evident throughout 2005. The Organization, through its Corporate 
Outreach programme was actively involved in initiatives that are 
intended to alleviate suffering, restore hope and enhance personal 
and community development.

Education, Health, Childcare and Sport continued to be the focus 
of the Organization’s outreach efforts through sponsorship, hosting 
of special events, granting of scholarships, financial donations and 
corporate sponsorships.  

Labour Day
The members of Capital & Credit Financial Group changed the 
condition of the beachfront along the Palisadoes Road in St. 
Andrew, through sheer hard work on Labour Day 2005. The 
shoreline was relieved of the refuse which had lined the entire 
strip facing Kingston Harbour, as members of the Capital & Credit 
family turned out to work. 
In a matter of hours, the volunteers had transformed the beach 
and made a solid contribution to the restoration of the natural 
environment. 

United Way
CCMB amply demonstrated its corporate support for Jamaicans 
from all walks of life throughout the year. In this regard, sixty-two 
charities benefited from the Organization’s donation of just under 
J$1.78 million to the United Way of Jamaica in 2005. 

These were only some of the many instances of care that Capital 
& Credit extended during 2005. Many more institutions and young 
individuals were assisted during the year, through the Group’s 
Donation programme. 

Diabetic Children
Capital & Credit helped children suffering from Diabetes to 
interpret the meaning of their lives and to cope with the realities 
of their disease, through facilitating the Art Therapy programme, 
which is an initiative of the Diabetes Association of Jamaica.

CCMB’s contribution to this important programme not only 
enabled the children – some as young as 7 years – to write about 
the experience of living with Diabetes, but also facilitated a 
special exhibition in November at the Jamaica Conference Centre, 
at which the pieces of art the children had created were displayed. 
The artistic expressions of these children have generated significant 
interest in Jamaica and abroad, with another exhibition scheduled 
to take place in South Africa in 2006. 

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

C.E.O. of United Way of 
Jamaica, Mrs. Winsome 

Wilkins, expresses pleasure 
at receiving Capital & Credit’s 
cheque for $1.78 million from 

Deputy Group President, 
Curtis Martin. Vice President, 

Marketing & Corporate Affairs,  
Michelle Wilson-Reynolds, 

shares in the happy moment.
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A large & enthusiastic audience turned out for the 
Pickney Love Concert 4.

Pickney Love at Christmas 
The fourth staging of the special annual fundraising concert for the 
benefit of Jamaican children…Pickney Love at Christmas 4, was 
the most successful to date. 

On December 23, well over one thousand patrons packed the 
Jamaica Pegasus Ballroom in support of this special concert, 
which featured the talents of schoolchildren from all over Jamaica, 
in addition to stars of the past and present - “Toots” Hibbert, Gem 
Myers, To Isis, VoiceMail, Karen Smith among others. 

Audited Results from Pickney Love at Christmas 3 revealed that 
J$516,000 was netted for the benefit of Dare to Care Home for 
Abandoned Children with AIDS. Indications are that when all is 
counted, Pickney Love at Christmas 4 will exceed the J$1 million 
target. All proceeds will again go to Dare to Care, on completion 
of the verification process by the Auditors, Deloitte & Touche. 

Sport

Cricket, lovely cricket, was in the air in 2005, and Capital & 
Credit played a vital role in ensuring this at the national level, 
by sponsoring the All-Island Limited Overs Competition. The 
competition is administered by the Jamaica Cricket Association, 
the body responsible for the supervision and regulation of all 
cricket activities in Jamaica.

The Capital & Credit All-Island Limited Overs Competition 
received increased support to the tune of J$3.6 million dollars 
in 2005. In addition, new incentives were given to participating 
clubs, including: a Mobilization fund of J$25,000 to each team 
to assist with organizational expenses, a Man-of-the-Round prize 
of J$10,000 for the most outstanding cricketer in each of the five 
preliminary rounds of the competition and a qualifying incentive 
of J$10,000 for each team that made it to the “Super 8”…the 
Quarter-Final stage of the Competition. 

For nearly eight weeks between the preliminary round matches 
that began at the end of July and the Final, which was held on 
September 17, cricket clubs were engaged in keen rivalry for the 
ultimate prize – the Capital & Credit trophy. 

At the end of a keenly contested final, Melbourne Cricket Club 
celebrated its second hold on the title with victory over Manchester 
Cricket Club.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Vice President, Marketing & Corporate Affairs, Michelle 
Wilson-Reynolds, presents the winners’ cheque to 
Melbourne Cricket Club’s Captain, Llewelyn Meggs.

The winning team poses with International cricket leg-
end and Melbourne Cricket Club President, Ambassador 
Hon. Courtney Walsh O.J.
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The legendary “Toots” Hibbert 
in action.

Members of the 
Pickney Love Organizing 
Committee surround 
CCFG’s Deputy 
President, Andrew 
Cocking (3rd right), 
as he presents the 
cheque representing the 
proceeds of Pickney 
Love at Christmas 3 to 
Administrator of the Dare 
to Care Home, Donna 
Reynolds (4th Left).

Children from Clonmel Dance Troupe perform a traditional folk dance.



Family members, guardians, teachers, sponsors & well wishers turned out to 
support the scholarship awardees.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

CCSL Tennis 2005
While not as nationally popular as cricket, the appreciation of 
the game of lawn tennis was enhanced in 2005, through the 
sponsorship of Capital & Credit Securities Limited. CCSL’s support 
to the tune of J$1 million, saw the Team Tennis Competition won 
by Team Montego Bay and the CCSL Junior Tennis League, won 
by Team Kingston. 

Tennis Jamaica Ltd, the body responsible for administering lawn 
tennis locally has hailed CCSL’s efforts as indispensable to the 
development of the game in urban and rural Jamaica.

Education   

Scholarships 2005
Capital & Credit Merchant Bank maintained a keen focus on 
Education in 2005 with the awarding of 17 new scholarships for 
the academic year 2005/2006, increasing the incumbent number 
of students who benefit from the Bank’s Scholarship Programme 
to 45. Since the programme began in 1996, the overall number 
of students to benefit has grown to 87. In 2005, wards in 
Children’s Homes in Kingston and Western Jamaica, also received 
scholarships to attend high schools and tertiary institutions across 
the island.

The 2005 scholarships funded by Capital & Credit were valued 
at over J$2.3 million and the students were officially presented 
at a special Awards Ceremony in October, at which they were 
encouraged to maintain their already high standards of academic 
excellence.
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Byron Brown of Mannings High in Westmoreland delivers Martin Luther King’s 
“I have a dream”.

Dean Stewart of the 
Jamaica Paraplegic 
Association, receives 
a special token from 
CCMB President 
Curtis Martin.

“We provide a 
comprehensive 

array of 
investment 

products and 
services to satisfy 

your need for 
service and 

profitable growth”.

Executive VP & General Manager of CCSL Devon Barrett speaks at the 
opening of Capital & Credit Tennis, and officially serves off the tournament.

Executive Director of 
the Early Childhood 
Commission Maureen 
Samms-Vaughn, has 
the keen attention of 
Scholarship Awards 
Committee Chairman 
Prof. Edwin Jones, 
and CCFG Chairman 
Ryland T. Campbell.



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

National Youth in Agriculture Programme
With the aim of promoting Jamaica’s agriculture as a worthwhile 
area for the investment of talent and capital by the island’s youth, 
Capital & Credit Merchant Bank continued to support the National 
Youth in Agriculture Programme (NYIA).

This initiative is managed by the Rural Agricultural Development 
Authority (RADA) with specific objectives including:
*   The encouragement of agricultural programmes in schools
*   The promotion of awareness among students about 
     agriculture’s importance to economic development
*   The promotion of agriculture as an applied science related to 
     the environment and its promotion as a viable business 
     option and desirable career choice. 

Capital & Credit sponsored the Public Speaking Competition at the 
annual Denbigh Agricultural Show and also provides scholarships 
to three NYIA students, on the basis of academic achievement, to 
attend the College of Agriculture, Science and Education (CASE), 
through the CCMB Scholarship Programme. 

Cultural Heritage 

Festival 2005
In keeping with its unwavering 
commitment to the promotion 
and celebration of Jamaica’s 
culture, Capital & Credit 
continued its support for Festival 
activities in 2005 to mark the 43rd 
anniversary of Independence. 
This was celebrated under 
the “Ketch Di Vibes” theme 
selected by the Jamaica Cultural 
Development Commission. 

The Capital & Credit Financial 
Group was a Platinum Sponsor 
of Festival 2005, the events of 
which include the Pop Song 
Finals, Traditional Folk Forms, 
Miss Jamaica Festival Queen 
competition and Heritagefest,  
which is held in October. 

Liberty Hall
Capital & Credit Merchant Bank also paid homage to Jamaica’s first 
National Hero and internationally acclaimed philosopher Marcus 
Mosiah Garvey, by supporting his implemented brainchild – Liberty 
Hall. 

Liberty Hall was conceived of as an institution that would rescue 
young people from negative influences that would ultimately destroy 
their prospects for self-fulfilment. 

CCMB donated a roomful of bookshelves to Liberty Hall, Jamaica, 
which is located at King Street in downtown Kingston. There are 
Liberty Halls in over 100 countries worldwide.

These were only some of the many instances of support that Capital 
& Credit extended during 2005, through the Group’s Corporate 
Outreach programme.
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“Our personal advisors 
will help you make the 
most of every financial 

opportunity”.

Chairman of CCFG, Ryland T. Campbell, shares a hearty 
laugh with Chairman of Liberty Hall, Professor Rupert Lewis,  
and its Executive Director, Donna McFarlane.

Vice President, Marketing & Corporate Affairs, Michelle Wilson-Reynolds, 
addresses the Jamaican community at the Schomburg Centre, Harlem, New 
York. Inset: Guest Speaker, Pro Vice-Chancellor of the University of the West 
Indies, Hon. Professor Rex Nettleford O.J.

Members of the East Indian Community 
in Jamaica perform at Heritagefest 2005.



TOP TEN SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2005  
   
  
NAMES SHAREHOLDING  % OF CAPITAL

CAPITAL & CREDIT FINANCIAL GROUP LTD                466,601,349  72.7746 
   
WESTSTAR INTERNATIONAL LTD                  10,394,440  1.6212 
   
TEWANI LIMITED                    9,036,000  1.4093 
   
TRADING A/C NATIONAL INSURANCE FUND                    9,902,200  1.5444 

MAYBERRY INVESTMENTS LTD A/C 09022                    6,855,955  1.0693
   
CAPITAL & CREDIT  EMPLOYEES SHARE OPTION PLAN                    5,279,127  0.8234 
   

TRADING A/C SCOTIABANK JA TR&MER BANK A/C 542                    4,619,136  0.7204   

RBTT NOMINEES SERVICES LTD A/C BFC 942 4,000,000 0.6239
   
BRITISH AMERICAN INSURANCE CO (T’DAD)                    3,953,390  0.6166 

COOYAH DESIGN                    3,248,976  0.5067 
   
MAYBERRY MANAGED CLIENTS ACCOUNTS                    3,189,929  0.4975 
     

   
 527,080,502 82.2074 
   

Shareholdings of Directors and Senior Managers as at December 31, 2005

DIRECTORS SHAREHOLDING CONNECTED SHAREHOLDERS

RYLAND T. CAMPBELL                                                  NIL  
                                                                      10,394,440  Weststar Int’l Ltd
                                                                          550,000  Arland Investments Ltd
                                                                          120,900  Bavar Investments Limited
                                                                    466,601,349 Capital & Credit Financial Group Ltd.  

ANDREW COCKING                                                     NIL  
                                                                    466,601,349 Capital & Credit Financial Group Ltd.  

ERNEST C THORBURN                                                  NIL  
                                                                             2,200 Barbara Thorburn
    
MARIA JONES                                                         33,000  
    
KELVIN ROBERTS                                                    35,000   
                                                                          251,000  Kelmar Limited

CURTIS MARTIN                                                 1,100,220*  
    
SENIOR MANAGERS   
    
RICHARD DYCHE                                                  194,000   
    
DEVON BARRETT                                                    66,670   
    
ROBERT CLARKE                                                   229,134*  
    
ROSALIE DEANE                                                   263,660*   
    
EDMOND MARSH                                                 100,000*   
    
ANN HUTCHINSON                                               176,480*  
     
MICHELLE WILSON REYNOLDS                                192,038*  
    
ANNA YOUNG                                                       44,000*  
    
MOYA LEIBA BARNES                                             232,947*    
 
JENNIFER ANDERSON                                              14,200*   
  
ADRIAN THOMPSON                                                   NIL 

IRAN PYNE                                                              8,000*  

*INCLUSIVE OF HOLDINGS UNDER THE EMPLOYEE SHAREOWNERSHIP PLAN

SHAREHOLDINGS SHAREHOLDINGS 
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List of Connected Persons to the Bank, affiliated, related or associated companies and/or firms:
     
  
NAME OF COMPANY/ RELATIONSHIP SHAREHOLDINGS
FIRM/PERSON    

    
   
National Insurance Fund Shareholder, Capital 9,902,200 
  & Credit Financial Group Limited 
   
   
Portland Corporation Limited Shareholder, Capital &  NIL
  Credit Financial Group Limited 
   
   
Estate of Stephen E. Cocking (Deceased) Shareholder, Capital & NIL
  Credit Financial Group Limited 
   
   
Weststar International Limited Shareholder, Capital & 10,394,440 
  Credit Financial Group Limited 
   
   
   
Capital & Credit Securities Ltd. Subsidiary company NIL 
    
   
Capital & Credit Remittance Ltd. Affiliated company 1,182,054 
   
   
Capital & Credit Financial Group Ltd. Holding company 
   466,601,349 

SHAREHOLDINGS 
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AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the members of

CAPITAL & CREDIT MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

We have audited the accompanying financial statements set out on Statements II to X and have received 
all the information and explanations which we considered necessary. These financial statements are the 
responsibility of the Bank’s Directors and Management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audit. 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free of 
material misstatements.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statements 
presentation.  We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
  
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept and the financial statements, which are in 
agreement therewith, present fairly in all material respects the state of affairs of the Group and the Bank 
as at December 31, 2005 and of the results of operations, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group 
and the Bank for the year then ended and have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and comply with the provisions of the Companies Act. 
 

     Chartered Accountants

Kingston, Jamaica,
February 17, 2006 

Statement I

Deloitte.
Deloitte & Touche
Chartered Accountants
7 West Avenue
Kingston Gardens
P.O. Box 13 Kingston 4
Jamaica,  W.I.

Tel: (876) 922 6825-7
Fax: (876) 922 7673
http://www.deloitte.com.jm

42B & 42C Union Street
Montego Bay
Jamaica,  W.I.

Tel: (876) 952 4713-4
Fax:(876) 979 0246

Donald S. Reynolds,  Carey O. Metz,  Audley L. Gordon,  Winston G. Robinson,  Fagan E.  Calvert,  Gihan C.  deMel

Consultant: T.  Sydney  Fernando

A member of
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

AUDITORS’ REPORT
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Deloitte & Touche
Chartered Accountants
7 West Avenue
Kingston Gardens
P.O. Box 13 Kingston 4
Jamaica,  W.I.

Tel: (876) 922 6825-7
Fax: (876) 922 7673
http://www.deloitte.com.jm

42B & 42C Union Street
Montego Bay
Jamaica,  W.I.

Tel: (876) 952 4713-4
Fax:(876) 979 0246

    
         Restated 
          2005  2004 
        Notes  $’000  $’000 
    
    ASSETS    
    
CASH RESOURCES   5  896,925  8,246,436 
    
INVESTMENT IN SECURITIES  6   
 Trading securities    2,094,558  5,323,688 
 Securities available-for-sale    45,132,887  38,761,364 
 Securities held-to-maturity                                                                                                 -              1,972,816 
    
          47,227,445  46,057,868 
    
LOANS (after provision for loan losses)  7  2,643,783  2,630,935 
    
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS  15  67,081       -            
    
OTHER ASSETS    
    
  Accounts receivable  8  1,701,423  1,567,456 
  Customers’ liability under acceptances,     
   guarantees and letters of credit as per contra    97,740  219,707 
  Property and equipment  9  163,701  82,275 
  Other asset   10         15,000        15,000 
    
            1,977,864    1,884,438 
    
GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION  11       140,146      140,146 
    
          52,953,244  58,959,823 

  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
    
DEPOSITS    12  4,821,355  4,522,026 
    
SECURITIES SOLD UNDER REPURCHASE    
     AGREEMENTS   13  39,579,012  25,751,744 
    
LOAN PARTICIPATION    992,752  1,197,842 
    
DUE TO OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS    1,666,642  22,884,233 
    
OTHER LIABILITIES    
  Bank overdrafts   25  64,250  -       
  Accounts payable   14  892,743  1,049,656 
  Income tax payable    168,728  40,492 
  Liabilities under acceptances, guarantees    
   and letters of credit as per contra           97,740       219,707 
    
            1,223,461    1,309,855 

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES  15  -           249,991 
    
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
    
 Share capital    16  320,580  294,400 
 Share premium   16  1,412,308  392,229 
 Statutory reserve fund  17  301,670  230,281 
 Retained earnings reserve  18  1,085,020  1,085,020 
 Fair value reserve   19                 (    206,908)  213,995 
 Loan loss reserve   7  18,240  20,702 
 Unappropriated profits      1,728,193       790,259 
    
 Attributable to stockholders of the Bank    4,659,103  3,026,886 
    
 Minority interest           10,919         17,246 
    
            4,670,022    3,044,132 
    
          52,953,244  58,959,823 
 
The Notes on Statement X form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 
 
The financial statements on Statements II to X were approved and authorised for issue by the Directors on February 17, 2006 and are signed on its 
behalf by: 
 
 

Statement II

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT DECEMBER 31, 2005

- 

34.



          
          2005  2004 
          Notes  $’000  $’000 
NET INTEREST INCOME AND OTHER REVENUE    
    
  Interest on investments      4,389,723  4,459,794 
  Interest on loans        382,464     314,541 
    
  Total interest income     4,772,187  4,774,335 
  
 Interest expense      3,671,776  3,650,957 
    
  Net interest income     1,100,411  1,123,378 
    
  Commission and fee income    76,099  52,304 
  Net gains on securities trading    999,431  339,655 
  Foreign exchange trading and translation               (      16,988 )  44,527 
  Dividend income     28,087  55,346 
  Other income          29,518       29,204 
    
            1,116,147     521,036 
    
Net interest income and other revenue    2,216,558  1,644,414 
    
NON-INTEREST EXPENSES    
    
  Staff costs     20  473,287  327,921 
  Loan loss (recovery)/expense   7            (       9,613 )  1,944 
  Bank charges      32,135  19,183 
  Property expense      78,071  60,003 
  Depreciation    9  27,058  26,197 
  Information technology costs    37,496  18,101 
  Marketing and corporate affairs    126,317  103,293 
  Professional fees      41,965  42,379 
  Other operating expenses         71,300       67,134 
    
Total non-interest expenses        878,016     666,155 
    
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION     1,338,542  978,259 
    
Taxation       21     181,319     112,940 
    
PROFIT AFTER TAXATION     1,157,223     865,319 
    
Attributable to:    
 Stockholders of the Bank   22  1,161,915     864,913 
 Minority interest                  (        4,692 )            406 
    
            1,157,223     865,319 
    
Earnings per stock unit of 50 cents  23   197¢      147¢ 
 
 
The Notes on Statement X form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 

Statement III

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT & LOSS ACCOUNT 
FOR YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

35.



         Statutory Retained Fair   
       Share Share Reserve Earnings Value Loan Loss Unappropriated Minority  
       Capital Premium Fund   Reserve Reserve Reserve       Profits Intrest Total 
      Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
         
Balance at December 31, 2003  292,250 365,299       196,706 723,020 81,859 30,973 398,970 - 2,089,077 
        
Unrealised gains on available-for-sale 
   investments net of taxes not recognized
 in profit and loss account  -       -       -        -         405,101 -      -      16,840 421,941

Net profit for the year   -       -       -       -         -       -      - 864,913 406 865,319

Transfer from loan loss reserve  7       -       -       -         -       -          (  10,271)              10,271 - -       

Shares issued   16 2,150 26,930 -       -         -       -      -      - 29,080

Transfer to statutory reserve fund 17 -       -       33,575 -         -       -                (   33,575 )  - -       

Transfer to retained earnings reserve 18 -       -       -       362,000 -       -                (  362,000) - -       

Dividends paid  33 -       -       -       -         -       -                (    88,320)   -     (    88,320 )

         
Balance at December 31, 2004
  as previously stated  2 294,400 392,229 230,281 1,085,020   486,960 20,702 790,259 17,246 3,317,097

Effects of restatement of originated debt to
securities avaiable-for-sale  6 -       -       -       -         (  272,965)       -      - -     (   272,965)
         
Balance at December 31, 2004 
 as restated    294,400       392,229       230,281       1,085,020        213,995       20,702      790,259 17,246 3,044,132

Unrealised loss on available-for-sale 
   investments net of taxes not recognized
 in profit and loss account  -       -       -       -          ( 420,903) -      -           (  1,635 )   (  422,538 )

Net profit for the year  -       -       -       -         -       -      - 1,161,915           (  4,692 ) 1,157,223

Transfer from loan loss reserve  7  -       -       -       -         -          (   2,462)   2,462 - -       

Shares issued   16 26,180 1,020,079 -       -         -       -      -      - 1,046,259

Transfer to statutory reserve fund 17 -       -       71,389  -         -       -                (    71,389)  -  -      

Dividend paid  33 -       -       -       - -       -                (    58,880) -     (    58,880 )      

Dividend declared  33 -       -       -         -       -      -                (    96,174 )  -     (    96,174 )
         
Balance at December 31, 2005  320,580 1,412,308 301,670 1,085,020          ( 206,908) 18,240 1,728,193 10,919 4,670,022

The Notes on Statement X form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Statement IV

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
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        2005  2004 
      Notes  $’000  $’000 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES   
   
  Net profit    1,157,223  865,319 
    Interest received    4,867,866  4,536,364 
    Interest paid                    (  3,684,078)                (   3,643,978) 
    Interest income                    (  4,772,187)                (   4,774,335) 
    Interest expense    3,671,776  3,650,957 
    Depreciation     27,058  26,197 
    Gain on sale of property and equipment    -                 (             275) 
    Accounts receivable                    (     229,646)                (      166,998 ) 
    Loans receivable                     (         3,235)                (      803,322 ) 
    Loan loss expense                    (         9,613)  1,944 
    Accounts payable                    (     240,785)  279,875 
    Deferred taxation                    (     109,838)  10,880 
    Income tax charge    291,157  101,494 
    Income tax paid                    (     162,921)                (        44,125) 
    
  Net cash provided by operating activities        802,777        39,997 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
    
  Proceeds on sale of property and equipment    -           275 
  Acquisition of property and equipment                    (     108,484)                (        17,360) 
  Decrease/(increase) in investments    4,299,829                 ( 14,903,673) 
  Securities purchased under resale agreements    -           87,551 
  Acquisition of subsidiary  24          -                 (      149,293 ) 
    
  Cash provided by/(used in) investing activities      4,191,345                 ( 14,982,500 ) 
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
    
  Dividend paid                    (       58,880)                (      146,770) 
  Issue of ordinary shares    1,046,259  29,080 
  Deposits   299,329  2,367,417 
  Securities sold under repurchase agreements    13,827,268  6,826,393 
  Loan participation                    (     205,090)  12,979 
  Due to other financial institutions                    (21,217,591)    6,534,940 
    
  Cash (used in)/provided by financing activities                    (  6,308,705)  15,624,039 
    
(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH  EQUIVALENTS                   (  1,314,583)  681,536 
    
OPENING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS    1,812,019  1,103,993 
    
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes           32,326         26,490 
    
CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  25      529,762    1,812,019 
 
 

The Notes on Statement X form an integral part of the Financial Statements.

Statement V

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

37.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

  
      Restated 
       2005  2004 
     Notes  $’000  $’000 
   ASSETS  
  
CASH RESOURCES  5  820,421  8,052,353 
    
INVESTMENT IN SECURITIES  6   
 Securities available-for-sale    26,757,679  23,456,046 
 Securities held-to-maturity             -              1,365,349 
    
       26,757,679  24,821,395 
    
SECURITIES PURCHASED UNDER RESALE  
   AGREEMENTS   452,622  644,860 
    
INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (Shares at cost)    305,406  375,406 
    
LOANS (after provision for loan losses)  7  2,643,783  2,630,935 
    
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS  15  129,592  -         
    
OTHER ASSETS    
    
  Accounts receivable  8  675,605  603,323 
  Income tax recoverable    80,229  -       
  Customers’ liabilities under acceptances,     
   guarantees and letters of credit as per contra    97,740  219,707 
  Property and equipment  9       138,817         75,073 
    
           992,391       898,103 
    
       32,101,894  37,423,052

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
    
DEPOSITS  12  4,821,355  4,522,026 
    
SECURITIES SOLD UNDER REPURCHASE     
  AGREEMENTS  13  20,455,922  5,992,778 
    
LOAN PARTICIPATION    992,752  1,197,842 
    
DUE TO OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS    1,666,642  22,884,233 
    
OTHER LIABILITIES    
    
  Bank overdrafts  25  64,250  -         
  Accounts payable  14  471,571  370,032 
  Income tax payable    -         13,398 
  Liabilities under acceptances, guarantees    
   and letters of credit as per contra          97,740      219,707 
    
           633,561      603,137 
    
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES  15  -         5,688 
    
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY    
    
  Share capital  16  320,580  294,400 
  Share premium  16  1,412,308  392,229 
  Statutory reserve fund  17  301,670  230,281 
  Retained earnings reserve  18  1,085,020  1,085,020 
  Fair value reserve  19               (     211,397)  79,381 
  Loan loss reserve    18,240  20,702 
  Unappropriated profits         605,241       115,335 
    
         3,531,662    2,217,348 
    
       32,101,894  37,423,052 
 
The Notes on Statement X form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 
 
The financial statements on S�

Statement VI

CAPITAL & CREDIT MERCHANT BANK LIMITED 
BALANCE SHEET AT DECEMBER 31, 2005
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     2005  2004
    Notes  $’000  $’000
NET INTEREST INCOME AND OTHER REVENUE
 Interest on investments   1,774,519  1,506,083
 Interest on loans   382,464  314,541

 Total interest income   2,156,983  1,820,624

 Interest expense   1,715,611  1,413,472

 Net interest income   441,372 407,152
 
 Commission and fee income   10,580  38,638
 Net gains on securities trading   694,058  93,327
 Foreign exchange trading and translation                    (      2,253)  44,498
 Dividend income   39,634  88,670
 Other income   21,853  26,464
 
Total other operating income   763,872  291,597

Net interest income and other revenue   1,205,244  698,749

NON-INTEREST EXPENSES
 Staff costs  20  228,552  176,014
 Loan loss (recovery)/expense  7                  (      9,613 )  1,944
 Bank charges   23,465  14,947
 Property expenses   54,787  45,462
 Depreciation  9  22,589  24,233
 Information technology costs   18,954  13,006
 Marketing and corporate affairs   61,954  79,165
 Professional fees   36,757  39,456
 Other operating expenses   43,803  49,485

Total non-interest expenses   481,248  443,712

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION   723,996  255,037

Taxation   21  10,109               (       80,717)

NET PROFIT  22  713,887  335,754

Earnings per stock unit of 50 cents  23  121¢  57¢

The Notes on Statement X form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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         Statutory Retained Fair   
       Share Share Reserve Earnings Value Loan Loss Unappropriated  
      Notes Capital Premium Fund   Reserve Reserve Reserve       Profits Total 
       $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
         
Balance at December 31, 2003   292,250 365,299       196,706 723,020 97,757 30,973 253,205 1,959,210 
        
Unrealised gains on available-for-sale 
   investments net of taxes not recognized
 in profit and loss account  -       -       -        -         306,369 -      -      306,369

Net profit for the year    -       -       -       -         -       -      335,754 335,754

Transfer from loan loss reserve  7       -       -       -         -       -         (  10,271 )              10,271 -       

Shares issued  16 2,150 26,930 -       -         -       -      -      29,080

Transfer to statutory reserve fund 17 -       -       33,575 -         -       -              (    33,575)  -       

Transfer to retained earnings reserve 18 -       -       -       362,000 -       -               (  362,000) -       

Dividend paid  33 -       -       -       -         -       -               (   88,320 )      (    88,320 )
         
Balance at December 31, 2004
  as previously stated   294,400 392,229 230,281 1,085,020   404,126 20,702 115,335 2,542,093
         
Effects of restatement of originated debt 
 securities to securities available-for-sale 6 - - - -        ( 324,745 ) - -       (   324,745 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2004
  as restated    294,400 392,229 230,281 1,085,020   79,381 20,702 115,335 2,217,348
              
Unrealised losses on available-for-sale 
   investments net of taxes not recognized
 in profit and loss account  -       -       -        -    (  290,778 ) -      -      (   290,778)

Net profit for the year   -       -       -       -         -       -      713,887 713,887

Transfer from loan loss reserve  7  -       -       -       -         -         (   2,462 )   2,462 -       

Shares issued  16 26,180 1,020,079 -       -         -       -       -     1,046,259

Transfer to statutory reserve fund 17 -       -       71,389  -         -       -               (   71,389)  -       

Dividend paid  18 -       -       -       - -       -               (   58,880)     (     58,880 )       

Dividend declared  33 -       -       -         -       -      -               (   96,174)     (   96,174 )
         
Balance at December 31, 2005  320,580 1,412,308 301,670 1,085,020       ( 211,397 ) 18,240 605,241 3,531,662

The Notes on Statement X form an integral part of the Financial Statements
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        2005  2004
     Notes  $’000  $’000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 Net profit   713,887  335,754
   Interest received   2,047,719  1,830,728
   Interest paid                   (  1,748,870 )                 (  1,315,493)
   Interest income                   (  2,156,983 )                 (  1,820,624)
   Interest expense   1,715,611  1,413,472
   Depreciation   22,589  24,233
   Gain on sale of property and equipment   -                  (            275)
   Accounts receivable   36,982                  (       40,093 )
   Loans receivable                    (        3,235 )                 (     803,322 )
   Loan loss expense                    (        9,613 )  1,944
   Accounts payable   38,624                   (           293 )
   Deferred tax adjustment   10,109                   (     134,887)
   Income tax charge   -  54,170
   Income tax paid                    (      93,627 )                 (           119 )
   
 Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities   573,193                  (      454,805)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 Securities purchased under resale agreements   192,238                  (      182,861)
 Proceeds on sale of property and equipment   -  275
 Acquisition of property and equipment  9                 (      86,333)                (       14,032 )
 Decrease/(increase) in investments   3,796,727                  ( 11,217,323)
 
 Cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   3,902,632                  ( 11,413,941)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

 Dividends paid                    (      58,880)                 (     146,770 )
 Issue of ordinary shares   1,046,259  29,080
 Deposits   299,329  2,367,417
 Securities sold under repurchase agreements   14,463,144  3,587,833
 Loan participation                  (     205,090)  12,979
 Due to other financial institutions                   ( 21,217,591)  6,534,940

 Cash (used in)/provided by financing activities                   (  5,672,829 )  12,385,479

(DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND
 CASH EQUIVALENTS                (   1,197,004 ) 516,733

OPENING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   1,617,936  1,075,350

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes   32,326  25,853

CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  25  453,258  1,617,936

The Notes on Statement X form an integral part of the Financial Statements.
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1  GROUP IDENTIFICATION

 (a)  Capital & Credit Merchant Bank Limited (“the Bank”) is incorporated in Jamaica and is a 73% (2004: 75%) 
subsidiary of Capital & Credit Financial Group Limited (previously Capital & Credit Holdings Limited), which 
is also incorporated in Jamaica. The registered office of the Bank is 6 – 8 Grenada Way, Kingston 5.

  The Bank’s main business is that of taking deposits, granting loans and trading in foreign currencies and 
Government securities.

  The Bank has two subsidiaries, Capital & Credit Securities Limited and Capital & Credit Fund Managers Limited 
(formerly Jamaica Unit Trust Services Limited) having acquired the latter effective October 1, 2004. The name 
of Jamaica Unit Trust Services Limited was changed to Capital & Credit Fund Managers Limited on January 19, 
2005. Both subsidiaries are incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica.

  The principal activities of the subsidiaries are as follows:
                    Financial
  Subsidiaries               Principal Activities                    Holdings              Year End
                        
  Capital & Credit Dealing in securities, 100%  December 31
                        Securities Limited stockbroking, portfolio
     planning, pension fund
     management and
     investment advisory services

  Capital & Credit Management of the Jamaica 70%  December 31
  Fund Managers Investment Fund and the selling of
  Limited   units to the public on its behalf

 (b)  i)  The Bank is licensed under the Financial Institutions Act and the Securities Act and regulated by the  
 Bank of Jamaica (the Supervisor) and the Financial Services Commission. The Bank is listed on the   
 Jamaica Stock Exchange and the Trinidad and Tobago Stock Exchange.

  ii)  Capital & Credit Securities Limited is licensed under the Securities Act and regulated by the Financial  
 Services Commission and the Jamaica Stock Exchange.

  iii)  Capital & Credit Fund Managers Limited is licensed under the Unit Trust Act and regulated by the 
       Financial Services Commission.

2  ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (the IASB) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) of the IASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for accounting periods beginning on January 1, 
2005. The adoption of these new and revised Standards and Interpretations have resulted in changes to the Group’s 
disclosures in the financial statements but have not affected the amounts reported for the current or prior years except for 
the reclassification of originated debt securities to available-for-sale securities during the current year which have been 
accounted for retrospectively (See Note 6). 

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations were 
 in issue but not yet effective:

  IFRS 6  Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources
  IFRS 7  Financial Instruments: Disclosure
  IFRIC 4  Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease
  IFRIC 5  Right to Interests Arising from Decommissioning, Restoration and 
   Environmental Rehabilitation Funds
  IFRIC 6  Liabilities Arising from Participating in a Specific Market - Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
  IFRIC 7  Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting in 
   Hyperinflationary Economies
  IFRIC 8  Scope of IFRS 2

 The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations will have no
 material impact on the financial statements of the Group other than for additional disclosures.
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3  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 (a)  Presentation of financial statements

These financial statements are prepared in accordance and comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by the revaluation of 
available-for-sale investment securities, investment securities held-for-trading and all derivative contracts.  These 
financial statements are expressed in Jamaican dollars.

 (b)  Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and entities controlled 
by the company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the company has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated profit and 
loss account from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 
policies into line with those used by other members of the Group.  

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity 
therein. Minority interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination 
and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority 
in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group 
except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to 
cover the losses.

 (c)  Business combinations

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is 
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or 
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs 
directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 are recognized at their fair values at the acquisition 
date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with 
IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognized and measured at 
fair value less costs to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognized as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of 
the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized and is subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. If after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognized 
immediately in the profit and loss account.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net 
fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized.

 (d)  Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results may differ from the estimates and any adjustments that may be necessary will be reflected 
in the year in which actual results are known.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized on the Group’s balance sheet when it becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

(i)  Investment in securities
Investments are recognised on a trade-date basis and are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs.

Investments are classified into the following categories: trading securities, securities available-for-sale, securities held 
-to-maturity and loans and receivables (previously originated debt). Management determines the appropriate classifi-
cation of investments at the time of purchase.

Trading securities are those which were either acquired for generating a profit from short-term fluctuations in price or 
dealer’s margin, or are securities included in a portfolio in which a pattern of short-term profit-taking exists. They are 
subsequently re-measured at fair value based on quoted bid prices. All related realized and unrealized gains and losses 
are included in net gains on securities trading in the profit and loss account.

Securities available-for-sale are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold 
in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates or market prices. They are 
subsequently re-measured at fair value based on quoted bid prices or amounts derived from cash flow models.
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of available-for-sale securities are recognised in 
stockholders’ equity in the fair value reserve. When the securities are disposed of or impaired, the related accumulated 
unrealised gains or losses included in the fair value reserve are transferred to the profit and loss account.

Securities that the Group has the expressed intention and ability to hold to maturity (held-to-maturity debt securities) 
are subsequently re-measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any impairment loss 
recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts. The annual amortisation of any discount or premium on the acquisition of 
a held-to-maturity security is aggregated with other investment income receivable over the term of the instrument so 
that the revenue recognised in each period represents a constant yield on the investment. Impairment losses recognized 
in profit or loss for equity investments classified as available-for-sale are not subsequently reversed through profit or 
loss. Impairment losses recognized in profit or loss for debt instruments classified as available-for-sale are subsequently 
reversed if an increase in the fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
recognition of the impairment loss. 

Were the Group to sell, other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity securities (in comparison to the remaining 
balance in the category) the entire category would be compromised and reclassified as available-for-sale. 

Loans which are provided directly to a borrower or government or other securities which are purchased directly from 
the issuer, are classified as loans and receivables (previously originated debt). These include bonds, treasury bills, 
mortgages and demand loans which are subsequently re-measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method.

IAS 39, revised 2004, effective January 1, 2005 stipulates that securities which are quoted on an active market could 
not be treated as loans and receivables (previously originated debt). Consequently, securities which were previously 
classified as originated debt by the Group were transferred to available-for-sale securities. 

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements are retained in the financial statements as trading or securities 
available-for-sale and the counterparty liability is included in due to other financial institutions and securities sold under 
repurchase agreements. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest and accrued over the
life of the repurchase agreements using the effective yield method.

A financial asset is considered impaired if its carrying amount exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. The 
amount of the impairment loss for assets carried at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
The recoverable amount of a financial asset carried at fair value is the present value of expected future cash flows 
discounted at the current market interest rate for a similar financial asset.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (Cont’d)
 
        (ii) Securities purchased under resale agreements

The costs of securities purchased under resale agreements are recorded as an asset in the financial statements. 
The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as interest income and accrued over the life of the 
resale agreements using the effective yield method.

        (iii) Accounts receivable

These are measured at initial recognition at their fair value. Interest is not charged on outstanding balances 
and these are not generally discounted as they are usually settled within a short period during which market 
interest rates do not normally move significantly. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts 
are recognized in profit and loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The allow-
ance recognized is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of          
estimated future cash flows.

        (iv)  Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than 90 
days maturity from the date of acquisition including cash and bank balances at Bank of Jamaica (excluding 
statutory reserves), due to or from other banks and investment securities less bank overdraft.

         (v) Accounts payable

Payables are initially measured at fair value, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

        (vi)  Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the company are recorded at the proceeds received net of direct issue costs.

       (vii)  Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at cost (including transaction 
costs) and subsequently are re-measured at their fair value. 

Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and options pricing models 
as appropriate. All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value 
is negative.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in income. Certain derivative transactions, while providing 
effective economic hedges under the Group’s risk management policies, do not qualify for hedge accounting 
under the specific rules in IAS 39. Fair value gains and losses are therefore reported in income.

      The fair values of the financial instruments are discussed in Note 30.

 (f)  Loans and provisions for credit losses

Loans are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers. They are initially recorded at cost which is the 
cash given to originate the loan including any transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method.

A loan is classified as non-performing when, in management’s opinion, there has been deterioration in credit 
quality to the extent that there is no longer reasonable assurance of timely collection of the full amount of 
principal and interest.

Loans are classified as non-current if they are non-performing in excess of ninety days. When a loan is classi-
fied as non-current, recognition of interest in accordance with the terms of the original loan ceases, and interest 
is taken into account on the cash basis by regulation. See note 3(m).

A provision for credit losses is established if there is objective evidence that a loan is impaired. A loan is 
considered impaired when management determines that it is probable that all amounts due according to the 
original contractual terms will not be collected. When a loan has been identified as impaired, the carrying 
amount of the loan is reduced by recording specific provisions for credit losses to reduce it to its estimated 
recoverable amount, which is the present value of expected future cash flows including amounts recoverable 
from guarantees and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate of the loan.

General provisions for doubtful credits are established against the loan portfolio where a prudent assessment 
by the Group of adverse economic trends suggests that losses may occur, but where such losses cannot yet 
be determined on an item-by-item basis. The Supervisor requires that such a provision should not be less 
than 0.5% for certain residential mortgages and not less than 1 % for all other loans. If the amount of the               
impairment subsequently decreases due to an event occurring after the write-down, the release of the provision 
is credited as a reduction of the provision for loan losses.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 (f)  Loans and provisions for credit losses (cont’d)
 

Statutory and other regulatory loan loss reserve requirements that exceed the provision required under IAS 39 
(Financial Instruments) are dealt with in a non-distributable loan loss reserve as a transfer from unappropriated 
profits.

Write-offs are made when all or part of a loan is deemed uncollectible. Write-offs are charged against 
previously established provisions for credit losses and reduce the principal amount of a loan. Recoveries in part 
or in full of amounts previously written-off are credited to loan loss expense in the profit and loss account.

 (g)  Property and equipment

All property and equipment held for use in the provision or supply of services, or for administrative purposes, 
are recorded at historical cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method.

Property and equipment in the course of construction for production, rental or administrative purpose or for 
purposes not yet determined are carried at cost (including professional fees), less any recognized impairment 
loss. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets are ready for 
their intended use.

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Repairs and renewals are charged to the profit and loss account when the expenditure is incurred.

 (h)     Computer software development costs

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense over the 
expected period of usage (not expected to exceed 12 months). Costs that are directly associated with identifiable 
and unique software products controlled by the Group that is expected to generate economic benefits beyond 
one year, are recognised as assets. Direct costs include staff costs of the software development team and an 
appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer software programmes beyond their 
original specifications is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the software. 
Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over 
their useful lives, not exceeding a period of 5 years.

 (i)    Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from the net profit as 
reported in the profit and loss account because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted at the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount 
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax basis used in the computation 
of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized.

Such assets and liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the asset to 
be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates currently enacted, which are expected to apply in the 
period when the liability is settled or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit and loss 
account, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax 
is also charged or credited in equity.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 (i)    Taxation (cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

(j)  Acceptances

The Group’s potential liability under acceptances is recorded as a liability. The Group’s recourse against its 
customers in the event of a call on these commitments is reported as an asset.

(k)  Share capital

 (i)  Share issue costs
Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares, are deducted
from share premium.

 (ii)  Dividends on ordinary stock units

  Dividends on ordinary stock units are recognised in the period in which they are declared.

(l)  Related party transactions and balances

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant 
influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.  Related party transactions and 
balances are recognized and disclosed for the following:

(i)  Enterprises and individuals owning directly or indirectly an interest in the voting power of the entity
 that gives significant influence over the entity’s affairs and close members of the families of these 
 individuals.

 (ii)  Key management personnel, that is those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
  directing and controlling the activities of the entity, including directors, officers and close members 
  of the families of these individuals.

(m)  Interest and fees

Interest income and expense are recognised in the profit and loss account for all interest-bearing instruments on 
an accrual basis using the effective yield method based on the actual purchase price. Interest income includes 
coupons earned on fixed income investments and discount or premium on financial instruments.

Jamaican banking regulations stipulate that, where collection of interest income is considered doubtful or pay-
ment is outstanding for 90 days or more, interest should be taken into account on the cash basis. IFRS require 
that when loans become doubtful of collection, they are written down to their recoverable amounts and inter-
est income is thereafter recognised based on the rate of interest that was used to discount the future cash flows 
for the purpose of measuring the recoverable amount. The difference between the regulatory basis and IFRS 
for the recognition of such income in the current year was assessed to be immaterial.

Fee and commission income is recognised on an accrual basis. Loan origination fees for loans which are likely 
to be drawn down are deferred, together with related direct costs, and recognised as an adjustment to the 
effective yield on the loan.

(n)  Foreign currency translation

Transactions in currencies other than the Group’s functional currency (Jamaican dollars) are recorded at the 
rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the balance sheet date monetary assets and lia-
bilities denominated in foreign currencies are re-translated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not re-translated.

All resulting gains and losses are credited to or charged against net profit or loss for the year.

(o)  Leases

 (i)  Group as the lessee
To date, the leases entered into by the Group are operating leases as a significant portion of the risks 
and reward of ownership are retained by the lessor. The total payments made under operating leases 
are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. When an 
operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired, any payment required to be made 
to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense in the period in which termination takes 
place.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

(o)  Leases (Cont’d)

 (ii)  Group as the lessor

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is recognised 
as a receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the receivable 
is recognised as unearned finance income. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease 
using the net investment method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

(p)  Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at cost, being their issue proceeds net of transaction costs incurred. 
Subsequently, borrowings are stated at amortised cost and any difference between net proceeds and the 
redemption value is recognized in the profit and loss account over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective yield method.

(q)  Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of past event and it is probable 
that the Group will be required to settle that obligation.

Provisions are measured at the management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation 
at the balance sheet date and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

(r)  Employee benefits

 (i)  Pension obligations

The Group pays fixed contributions into defined contribution Superannuation Funds and will have no 
legal or constructive obligations to pay further pension benefits.

The regular contributions constitute costs for the year in which they are due and are included in staff 
costs.

 (ii)  Employee Share Ownership Plan

The Bank has an Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) for eligible employees of the Capital & 
Credit Financial Group Limited group of companies. When the options are exercised, the par value 
of the shares is credited to share capital and the excess of the fair value over the par value is included 
in share premium. The difference between the fair value and the option price is included in staff 
costs.

 (iii)  Leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision 
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave for services rendered by employees up to the 
balance sheet date.

(s)  Fiduciary activities

Assets and income arising thereon together with related undertakings to return such assets to customers are 
excluded from these financial statements where the Group acts in a fiduciary capacity such as nominee, trustee 
or agent.

(t)  Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the greater of the net selling price and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. Impairment losses 
are recognized as an expense immediately, unless the particular asset is carried at a revalued amount in equity, 
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease through equity.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized 
for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized as income 
immediately, unless previously recognized through equity, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss 
is treated as a revaluation increase in equity.

Statement X.7
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Statement X.8

4  CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, management 
has made the following judgements and estimates that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognized in the financial statements and could cause material adjustments to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities.

Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Group reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment. In determining whether an impairment loss 
should be recorded in the profit and loss account, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is 
any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from 
a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio. This 
evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment 
status of borrowers in the Group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on 
loans in the Group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for loans with credit 
risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when projecting 
its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing 
of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to minimize any differences between loss estimates and actual 
loss experience. To the extent that the net present value of estimated cash flows differs by +/-2 percent, the 
provision would be estimated $39,121,000 lower or $52,510,800 higher.

 Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating 
unit to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate present value. The carrying amount of goodwill at the balance sheet date was $140,146,000. No 
impairment loss was recognized during 2004 and 2005.

 Internally generated intangible asset

The Group has recognized as an asset costs directly associated with the acquisition of the rights to use a 
unique and identifiable software product and the cost to bring the software into use.

Management is confident that the economic benefits to be generated will exceed costs beyond one year. 
Direct costs of $74,783,000 including licensing fee, project management fee and development cost, which 
include an appropriate portion of staff costs and relevant overheads have been recognized during the year 
in property and equipment.

5  CASH RESOURCES
 
 Cash resources include:

            (a)         $302,913,000 (2004: $304,440,000) held under Section 14(i) of the Financial Institutions Act, 
                at  the Bank of Jamaica as a Cash Reserve. This amount includes a Special Deposit of 1%            
               (2004: 5%) of prescribed liabilities on which interest is paid at 6% (2004: 6%) to the Bank. 
  Accordingly, these amounts are not available for investment or other use by the Bank.

 (b)  $6,129,977,000 at December 31, 2004 held by an investment broker as security for the sale of 
  certain borrowed investment securities. The interest rate on this amount varied with the US   
  Federal Reserve rate. The effective rate at December 31, 2004 was 1.875%.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
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6           INVESTMENT IN SECURITIES

                                                                                           The Group                                     The Bank

     2005  2004  2005  2004

     $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

  Trading securities

      Government of Jamaica securities  1,902,746  3,134,077  -  -

     Financial institutions  -  198,004  -  -

     Equity securities   162,223  67,106  -  -

     Other securities   29,589  1,924,501  -  -

     2,094,558  5,323,688  -  -

  Securities available-for-sale

     Government of Jamaica securities  23,109,758  18,681,892  13,140,818  5,770,080
     US Government agencies and
       other securities  22,023,129 20,079,472 13,616,861 17,685,966
     
     45,132,887  38,761,364  26,757,679  23,456,046

  Securities held-to-maturity

     Government of Jamaica securities  -  1,972,816  -  1,365,349

     47,227,445  46,057,868  26,757,679  24,821,395

Prior to January 1, 2005, loans and advances which were provided directly to a borrower, and government or 
other securities which are purchased directly from the issuer, were classified as originated debt. Due to the revision 
of IAS 39, (2004) effective January 1, 2005, the category originated debt was changed to loans and receivables. 
As a consequence of the changes in the standard, securities previously classified as originated debt totalling 
$20,768,505,000 in the Group and $14,243,453,000 in the Bank at December 31, 2004 were reclassified as 
Available-for-sale securities as they did not meet the definition of loans and receivables. The effects of the changes 
included in the financial statements at December 31, 2004 are as follows:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Statement X.10

                                                                      The Group

 Increase in securities  Decrease in  Deferred  Net decrease in
 available-for-sale  fair value  tax effect  fair value reserve
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
 
 20,359,058  409,447  136,482  272,965

                                                                        The Bank

 Increase in securities  Decrease in  Deferred  Net decrease in
 available-for-sale  fair value  tax effect   fair value reserve
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

 13,756,335  487,118  162,373  324,745

The interest rates of a significant portion of Government of Jamaica Local Registered Stocks are adjusted on interest 
payment dates by reference to the existing six months Treasury bill rate which is the primary reference point for 
interest rates in the economy. The securities classified as available-for-sale have been valued at market value. Market 
value is computed using the current market quotations for similar securities derived from accumulation of data for the 
market and the compilation of a monthly yield curve.

During the year a significant amount of investments in the category of Securities held-to-maturity were sold, 
consequently the remaining balances in the category were reclassified as Available-for-sale investments.

Government securities totalling $72,440,000 (2004:$92,630,000) are held by the Bank of Jamaica, $71,440,000 
(2004:$91,630,000) as security in the event of an overdraft on the Bank’s and subsidiary’s primary dealer accounts, 
and $1,000,000 (2004:$1,000,000) to facilitate stockbroking activities of the subsidiary.

Gross gains of $963,096,000 for the Group and $694,058,000 for the Bank (2004: $114,078,000 for the Group and 
$48,011,000 for the Bank) were realized on sales of available-for-sale securities during the year.
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                                                                                                          The Group and the Bank
 
    2005 2004
    $’000 $’000
  (c) Loan loss provision  
   
   Balance, January 1 30,494 42,972
   Provision for the year 964 15,503
   
    31,458 58,475
   Recoveries during the year                                                 (   10,577 )                   (  13,559 )
   Written off during the year                                                   -                     (   14,422 )
   
   Balance, December 31 20,881 30,494

   The amount charged in the profit and loss account  
      comprises: $’000 $’000
   
   Expense for the year 964 15,503
   Recoveries                                                                      (   10,577 )                   (   13,559 )
   
   Loan loss (recovery)/expense                                               (     9,613)   1,944

  (d) Loan loss reserve  
    2005 2004
    $’000 $’000
   
   Regulatory loan loss provision 39,121 51,196
   Less:  Provision based on IAS 39 20,881 30,494
   
   Balance, December 31 18,240 20,702

   The amount in excess of the loan loss provision based on IAS 39 (Financial Instruments) requirements has 
   been transferred to a non-distributable Loan loss reserve.

Statement X.11
 7        LOANS
           (a)                                        The Group and the Bank 
              2005 2004
              $’000 $’000
  

Loans      2,664,664 2,661,429
  

Less: Loan loss provision          20,881      30,494
  
              2,643,783 2,630,935

      (b)                                                                      The Group and the Bank 
                                                                                          Remaining Term to Maturity 
          Under 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5 Carrying Carrying
          3 months Months Years Years Value Value
              2005 2004
          $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Individuals 43,587 151,422 311,157 44,093 550,259 271,916
Businesses 497,490 492,537 367,550 756,828 2,114,405 2,389,513

      
          541,077 643,959 678,707 800,921 2,664,664 2,661,429

Loans for the Group and the Bank include non-performing loans in the amount of $329,984,000 (2004:$33,031,000). 
Subsequent to the balance sheet date, the Commissioner of Lands confirmed that land bonds with a value of 
$260,000,000, the proceeds of a property which secured a non accrual loan were being prepared in the name of the 
Bank.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
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        9         PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
       The Group 
      Furniture,    
     Fixtures and Paintings and Leasehold Motor Work - in
   Land Building Equipment Artwork Improvements Vehicles Progress Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At cost
 December 31, 2003  2,968  20,391  79,719  7,956  46,874  2,306  -  160,214
 Acquisition of subsidiary  -  -  12,984  -  -  2,012  -  14,996
 Additions  -  -  12,648  3,403  1,083  226  -  17,360
 Disposals  -  -  -  -  -           ( 1,500 )  -       (    1,500 )
 December 31, 2004  2,968  20,391  105,351  11,359  47,957  3,044  -  191,070
 Additions  -  -  30,214  410  1,487  1,590  74,783  108,484
 December 31, 2005  2,968  20,391  135,565  11,769  49,444  4,634  74,783  299,554

Depreciation
 December 31, 2003  -  -  41,178  -  27,810  2,014  -  71,002
 Acquisition of subsidiary  -  -  12,728  -  -  368  -  13,096
 Charge for year  -  504  18,555  -  6,710  428  -  26,197
 Disposal  -  -  -  -  -           ( 1,500 )  -       (    1,500 )
 December 31, 2004  -  504  72,461  -  34,520  1,310  -  108,795
 Charge for year  -  510  21,032  - 4,938  578  -  27,058
 December 31, 2005  -  1,014  93,493  -  39,458  1,888  -  135,853
Net book value
 December 31, 2005  2,968  19,377  42,072  11,769  9,986  2,746  74,783  163,701

 December 31, 2004  2,968  19,887  32,890  11,359  13,437  1,734  -  82,275
   

      The Bank 
      Furniture,    Construction
     Fixtures and Paintings and Leasehold Motor Work - in
   Land Building Equipment Artwork Improvements Vehicles Progress Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At cost
 December 31, 2003  2,968  20,391  74,782  7,303  46,357  2,306  -  154,107
 Additions  -  -  9,546  3,403  1,083  -  -  14,032
 Disposal  -  -  -  -  -           ( 1,500 )  -       (     1,500 )

 December 31, 2004  2,968  20,391  84,328  10,706  47,440  806  -  166,639
 Additions  -  -  8,104  369  1,487  1,590  74,783 86,333
 December 31, 2005  2,968  20,391  92,432  11,075  48,927  2,396  74,783  252,972

Depreciation
 December 31, 2003  -  -  39,450  -  27,369  2,014  -  68,833
 Charge for year  -  504  16,805  -  6,634  290  -  24,233
 Disposal  -  -  -  -  -           ( 1,500 )  -       (    1,500 )

 December 31, 2004  -  504  56,255  -  34,003  804  -  91,566
 Charge for year  -  510  16,876  -  4,938  265  -  22,589

 December 31, 2005  -  1,014  73,131  -  38,941  1,069  -  114,155

Net book value
 December 31, 2005  2,968  19,377  19,301  11,075  9,986  1,327  74,783  138,817

 December 31, 2004  2,968  19,887  28,073  10,706  13,437  2  -  75,073 
     

Statement X.I2
8 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
     The Group                                          The Bank 
    2005 2004 2005 2004
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  Interest receivable on investments 1,148,963  1,217,999  551,830  415,923
  Interest receivable on loans 31,373  58,016  31,373  58,016 
  Withholding tax recoverable  425,596  186,397  31,147  49,801  
  Owed by parent company 147  15,024  147  15,024      
  Owed by wholly-owned subsidiary -  -  -  4,203  
  Owed by fellow subsidiary  1,765  506  -  506  
  Accounts receivable – Brokerage 22,175  25,532  -  -     
  Other receivables      71,404  63,982  61,108  59,850
    
    1,701,423  1,567,456  675,605  603,323  

  The Directors are of the opinion that the carrying amount of accounts receivable approximates its fair value.
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12        DEPOSITS

                                                                                            The Group and The Bank
                     Remaining Term to Maturity
      Within 3 to 12 1 to 5 Carrying Carrying
      3 months Months Years Value Value
         2005 2004
      $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     

   Total 2,865,678 1,905,648 50,029 4,821,355 4,522,026
     

   Personal    2,584,755 1,828,147
   Financial institutions    262,319 906,275 
       Commercial and business enterprises    1,974,281 1,787,604

     
         4,821,355 4,522,026

11 GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION

 Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of shares in subsidiary over the value of the net assets acquired.

    2005 2004
    $’000 $’000

  Balance at January 1 140,146     -
  Goodwill on acquisition during the year - 140,146     

  140,146 140,146
 
 Write off for impairment for the year  -       -  

  Balance at December 31 140,146 140,146    

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be 
impaired.  
 
The recoverable amounts of the cash generating units (CGUs) are determined from value in use calculations.  The key 
assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes 
to selling prices and direct costs during the period.  Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect 
current market assessments of the time value of  money and the risks specific to the CGUs.  The growth rates are based on 
industry growth forecasts.  Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of future 
changes in the market. 

 
The Group prepared cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management for the 
next five years and extrapolates cash flows for the following five years based on an estimated growth rate of 20%.  This rate 
does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets. 
 
The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows is 13.5%. 

10 OTHER ASSET

This represents one qualifying share held in the Jamaica Stock Exchange Limited (JSE) at cost. The qualifying share entitles 
Capital & Credit Securities Limited, a subsidiary, to operate as a broker/dealer and be a member of the Council of the 
JSE.

Statement X.13

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

9  PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)
 
 Annual depreciation rates are based on the following estimated useful lives:

  Leasehold improvements  -  3 – 5 years
  Furniture, fixtures and office equipment  -  5 years
  Computer equipment  -  3 years
  Motor vehicles  -  5 years
  Building  -  40 years
 
 No depreciation is provided on land, paintings and artwork.

Property and equipment are periodically reviewed for impairment. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than 
its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable amount.

Following the revisions to IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment in 2003, that are effective for the current accounting 
period, the company has reviewed the residual values used for the purposes of depreciation calculations in light of 
the amended definition of residual value in the revised standard. The review did not highlight any requirement for an 
adjustment to the residual values used in the current or prior periods. In line with the new requirements, these residual 
values will be reviewed and updated annually.
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13 SECURITIES SOLD UNDER REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS

                   The Group 
            
                                                                                                     Remaining Term to Maturity
 
          Under 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Carrying Carrying
          Months Months Years Value Value
             2005 2004
          $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     

   Total    34,977,052  4,541,255  60,705  39,579,012  25,751,744 
 
   Personal     3,011,571  3,025,804
   Financial institutions    24,761,702  10,518,942
   Commercial and 
        business enterprises    11,805,739  12,206,998
        
           39,579,012  25,751,744

                   The Bank   
  
                                                                                               Remaining Term to Maturity   
  
          Within 3 to 12 1 to 5 Carrying Carrying
          3 months Months Years Value Value
             2005 2004
          $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
     

Total   18,311,915  2,137,459  6,548  20,455,922  5,992,778 

Personal    96,627  427,064
Financial institutions    16,015,659 3,354,753
Commercial and 
  business enterprises    4,343,636 2,210,961

       20,455,922  5,992,778

14    ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
                                                                                              The Group                                        The Bank
 
      2005 2004 2005 2004
      $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
    

  Interest payable  607,194  619,496  257,130  290,389
  Dividends payable  96,174  -  96,174  -
  Brokerage payable  21,309  24,647  -  -
  Prime accounts  8,381  17,290  -  -
  Other payable  159,685  388,223  118,267  79,643
   
   892,743  1,049,656  471,571  370,032 

The Directors are of the opinion that the carrying amount of accounts payable approximates its fair value.

Statement X.I4

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
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15 DEFERRED TAXATION

(a) Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the balance sheet liability method   
           using the current tax rate of 33 1/3%. 

                                                                                             The Group                              The Bank 
          2005 2004 2005 2004
          $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Analysis for financial reporting
  purposes    

 Deferred tax liabilities  366,382  554,744  167,499  177,004

 Deferred tax assets  (433,463)  (304,753)  (297,091)           ( 171,316)

Net (assets)/liabilities  ( 67,081)  249,991  (129,592)  5,688

(b)  The movement for the year and prior reporting period in the Bank’s net deferred tax position is as follows:

                                                                                             The Group                        The Bank 
          2005 2004 2005 2004
          $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
    

       Net liability at January 1  249,991  190,781  5,688  149,763

       (Credited)/charged to income  (109,838)  11,446  10,109  (134,887)

       Credited/(charged) to equity  (207,234)  65,534  (145,389)  ( 9,188)

       Deferred tax – subsidiary purchased  -  ( 17,770)  -  -

       Net (assets)/liabilities at December 31  ( 67,081)  249,991  (129,592)  5,688

Statement X.I5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

The following are the main deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and the movements thereon,        
during the current and prior reporting periods: 

(i) Deferred tax assets
                                                                                                  The Group

   Unrealised  Available-
   Loss on  for-sale
  Tax  securities  Investment  Interest  Tax
  Losses  trading  Revaluation  Payable  Credit  Other  Total

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
At December 31, 2003  -  -  -  225,088  -  -  225,088
Charged to income for the year  23,161  73,520  -  ( 18,590)  1,000  574  79,665

At December 31, 2004  23,161  73,520  -  206,498  1,000  574  304,753
Credited/(charged) to 
 Income for the year 112,728 (73,520) - (  4,875) - 294 34,627
Charged to equity for the year  -  -  94,083  -  -  -  94,083

At December 31, 2005  135,889  -  94,083  201,623  1,000  868  433,463

                                                                                      The Bank

   Unrealised
   Loss on
  Tax  securities  Interest  Tax
  Losses  trading  Payable  Credit  Total

  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
At December 31, 2003  -  -  64,136  -  64,136
Charged to income for the year  -  73,520  32,660  1,000  107,180

At December 31, 2004  -  73,520  96,796  1,000  171,316
Credited/(charged) to
income for the year 104,682 32,179 ( 11,086) - 125,775

At December 31, 2005  104,682  105,699  85,710  1,000  297,091
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15 DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont’d)

 (ii)  Deferred tax liabilities

                                                                                                The Group

   Capital
   Allowances   Available
   in excess of   for sale  Trading
   Deprecation  Interest  Investment  Investment
   Charges Receivable  Revaluation  Revaluation  Total

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
  
  At December 31, 2003  3,857  366,930  40,929  4,153  415,869
  (Credited)/charged to income
     for the year                                          (   2,516) 36,630 - 32,539 66,653
  Charged to equity for the year as
     restated ( See note 6) - - 72,222 - 72,222

  At December 31, 2004  1,341  403,560  113,151  36,692  554,744
  Charged/(credited) to income
     for the year 5,161        (  44,404) -        (  35,968 )    (  75,211)
  Credited to equity for the year  -  -        (  113,151)  -     ( 113,151)

  At December 31, 2005  6,502  359,156  -  724  366,382

                   The Bank
   Capital
   Allowances   Available
   in excess of   for sale
   Deprecation  Interest  Investment
   Charges  Receivable  Revaluation  Total

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
  
  At December 31, 2003  3,674  161,347  48,878  213,899
  Credited to income
     for the year                                         (   2,562 )       (  25,145 ) -        (   27,707)
  Credited to equity for the
     year as restated (See Note 6) - -        (    9,188 )       (    9,188)

  At December 31, 2004  1,112  136,202  39,690  177,004
  Charged/(credited) to
     income for the year 3,503 26,682 - 30,185
  Credited to equity for the year - -        (  39,690 )       (  39,690)

  At December 31, 2005  4,615  162,884  -  167,499

16   SHARE CAPITAL 
       2005  2004
       $’000  $’000
 (a)   Authorised:
    800,000,000 (2004:600,000,000) ordinary
    shares of 50¢ each 400,000 300,000

   Issued and fully paid:
    641,159,682 (2004: 588,800,000) ordinary stock
    units of 50¢ each 320,580 294,400

Effective February 1, 2005, the Jamaican Companies Act required that shares of all Jamaican companies become no par 
value shares unless an election was made to retain par value for a period of eighteen months. The Bank has elected to 
maintain the par value of its shares.

 

Statement X.I6
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Statement X.I7

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

16  SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)
 
(a)  (Cont’d)

On May 10, 2005, the authorized ordinary share capital was increased to $400,000,000 by the creation of an additional 
200,000,000 ordinary shares of 50¢ each to rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares to be converted 
into stock units on issue.

On June 18, 2004 an amount of 4,300,000 ordinary shares were issued to the Employee Share Ownership Plan for the 
benefit of participating employees. This increased the issued share capital to 588,800,000 ordinary stock units.

On December 14, 2005, following a 1 for 10 Rights Issue of its shares to the existing stockholders, the Bank increased its 
shares in issue by 52,359,682 new ordinary shares bringing the issued share capital of the Bank to 641,159,682 ordinary 
stock units.

 (b)  Share Premium
 2005  2004
 $’000  $’000

Balance at January 1  392,229  365,299
Premium arising on issue of equity shares  1,047,864  26,930
Expenses of issue of equity shares                                     (    27,785)  -

  
  Balance at December 31           1,412,308           392,229

17  STATUTORY RESERVE FUND

Under the Financial Institutions Act (1992) the Bank is required to transfer to a reserve fund a minimum of 15% of the net 
profit each year until the amount to the credit of the reserve fund is equal to 50% of the Bank’s paid up capital. Thereafter, 
10% of the net profit each year is to be transferred to the reserve fund until the amount at the credit of the reserve fund is 
equal to the Bank’s paid up capital. The transfer for the year was at the prescribed rate of 10% (2004:10%).

18  RETAINED EARNINGS RESERVE

The Financial Institutions Act permits the transfer of net profits to a retained earnings reserve. Such transfers are made at 
the discretion of the Bank’s Directors and must be notified to the Bank of Jamaica.

During 2004, the Directors by resolutions authorised the transfer of $362,000,000 from unappropriated profits to retained 
earnings reserve. No transfer was made during the current year.

19  FAIR VALUE RESERVE

Fair value reserve represents the excess of the market value of securities available-for-sale at the period end over the 
amortised cost net of the deferred tax effect.

20  STAFF COSTS
                �

   2005  2004  2005  2004
   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
  Staff costs incurred during the year in
  respect of employees were:
               Salaries and wages  403,830  262,085  185,970  129,094
               Statutory contributions  20,857  22,167  10,093  13,353 
      Pension contributions  8,241  6,801  4,668  3,864
      Termination costs  4,963  -  -  -
      Other staff benefits  35,396  36,868  27,821  29,703
   
   473,287  327,921  228,552  176,014
  

  The value of compensation under the ESOP included in other staff benefits was $NIL (2004:$7,270,000).
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21  TAXATION

 (a)  Total charge for the year comprises:
                                                                                  The Group                                     The Bank
    2005  2004  2005  2004
    $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

   Income tax at 33 1/3% of
     taxable income 291,157 101,494 - 54,170
   Deferred tax (Note 15)                                  ( 109,838)  11,446  10,109       ( 134,887)
    181,319  112,940  10,109        (  80,717)

 (b)  Subject to agreement of the Commissioner, Taxpayer Audit and Assessment, at balance sheet  date the Group had
   tax losses of approximately $407.67 million (2004: $69.48 million)  available for set-off against future taxable 
  profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of these losses.

  Reconciliation of applicable tax charge to effective tax charge:

                            The Group
                                                                                                2005                                         2004
    $’000  %  $’000  %
   Profit before tax  1,338,542   978,259

   Tax at the domestic income tax rate  446,180  33.3  326,086  33.3
   Tax effect of:
     Expenses not deductible in
     determining taxable profit  1,639  0.1  2,175  0.2
     Non-taxable income                                   ( 271,026)           (   20.2)              (  221,522)           (  22.6)
     Other adjustments  4,526  0.3  6,201  0.6
  
     Tax expense and effective tax 
       rate for the year  181,319  13.5  112,940  11.5

                              The Bank
                                                                                                        2005                                         2004
    $’000  %  $’000  %
   Profit before tax  723,996   255,037

   Tax at the domestic income tax rate  241,332  33.3  85,012  33.3
   Tax effect of:
      Expenses not deductible in
      determining taxable profit  1,639  0.2  2,075  0.8
      Non-taxable income                                   (232,951)           (   32.2)              (  166,197)           (  53.8)
      Other adjustments  89  0.1               (      1,607)          (    0.6)
      Tax expense and effective tax
        rate for the year  10,109  1.4                  ( 80,717)           (  20.3)

22  NET PROFIT

 (a)  Dealt with in the accounts of:
     2005   2004
     $’000   $’000
  The Bank   713,887   335,754
  The subsidiaries   448,028   529,159
     1,161,915   864,913
 
 (b)  The net profit is stated after taking account of the following items:
     �
    2005  2004  2005  2004
    $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
  Directors’ emoluments
   - Fees  2,888  2,412  2,888  2,412
   - Management  32,987  27,473  17,509  13,789
  Audit fees - current year  6,982  4,169  2,990  2,669
   - prior year  81             (      278)           (       69)  104
  Depreciation  27,058  26,197  22,589  24,233 58.



Statement X.I9

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

23  EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT

The calculation of earnings per stock unit is based on the net profit after taxation of $1,161,915,000 for the Group and 
$713,887,000 for the Bank, divided by the weighted average number of 50 cents stock units in issue in the year amounting 
to 591,238,670 ordinary stock units.

The comparative earnings per stock unit is based on net profit of $864,913,000 for the Group and $335,754,000 for the 
Bank and the 586,809,041 weighted average number of ordinary stock units in issue during the year. 

See Note 16 for increases in share capital.

24  ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY

On October 1, 2004, the Bank acquired 70% of the issued share capital of Capital & Credit Fund Managers Limited 
(formerly Jamaica Unit Trust Services Limited) for consideration of $179,089,000. This transaction has been accounted for 
by the purchase method of accounting.

    $’000
  Net assets acquired:

  Cash resources  29,896
  Investment  26,744
  Investment in subsidiary  248
  Accounts receivable  2,098
  Property and equipment  1,900
  Deferred tax assets  17,902
  Accounts payable                                                                                       ( 21,077)
  Income tax payable                                                                                     (  1,858)
  Bank overdraft                                                                                            (     100)
    
    55,753
  Less minority interest at acquisition                                                              ( 16,810)
  Goodwill  140,146

  Total consideration  179,089

  Satisfied by cash  179,089

  Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
  Cash consideration                                                                                    (179,089)

  Bank balances and cash acquired  29,796

                                                                                                         (149,293)
  There were no acquisitions during the current financial year.

25  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
    2005  2004
    $’000  $’000
  Cash and balances with banks including Bank of Jamaica  896,925  8,246,436
  Less: Statutory cash reserves (Note 5(a))  302,913  304,440
     Cash deposit – Investment Broker (Note 5(b))  -  6,129,977
     Bank overdrafts  64,250  -
    529,762  1,812,019
  The Bank overdrafts are unsecured and repayable on demand.

26  FUND MANAGEMENT

The Group provides corporate administration, investment management and advisory services to third parties which involve 
the Group making allocation, purchase and sales decisions in relation to a wide range of financial instruments. Those assets 
are held in a fiduciary capacity and are not included in these financial statements. At December 31, 2005, the Group had 
financial assets under administration of approximately $2.587 billion (2004: $2.4 billion).

27  SEGMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Group is organized into two main business segments:

a)    Banking and related services which include taking deposits, granting loans and other credit facilities and 
       foreign currency trading.

b)    Financial and related services which include securities trading, stock-broking, portfolio planning, funds 
      management and investment advisory services.

 Transactions between the business segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions.59.
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27  SEGMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Cont’d)

    2005

   Banking &   Financial &  Consolidated 
   Related Services    Related Services Adjustments  Group

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

  Gross external revenues  2,812,237  3,081,233  -  5,893,470
  Revenue (expenses) from
   other segments 103,482                  ( 89,578)          (   13,904) -

   2,915,719  2,991,655            (   13,904)  5,893,470
  Total expenses  2,196,859  2,358,069  -  4,554,928
 
  Profit before tax  718,860  633,586            (   13,904)  1,338,542

  Income tax expense     181,319

  Net profit     1,157,223

  Segment assets  32,101,894  21,638,602             (787,252)  52,953,244
 
  Segment liabilities  28,570,232  20,325,304             (612,314)  48,283,222

  Other segment items:

      Capital expenditure  86,333  22,151   108,484

      Depreciation  22,589  4,469   27,058

      Loan loss recovery                                       (        9,613)  -       (        9,613)

    2004

   Banking &   Financial &    Consolidated
   Related Services   Related Services   Adjustments   Group

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

  Gross external revenues  1,837,465  3,457,906  -  5,295,371
  Revenue (expenses) from
    other segments 181,429             (    146,653)           (   34,776) -
  
   2,018,894  3,311,253            (   34,776)  5,295,371
  Total expenses  1,857,184  2,459,928  -  4,317,112
  
  Profit before tax  161,710  851,325            (   34,776)  978,259
  
  Income tax expense     112,940

  Net profit     865,319

  Segment assets  37,423,052  22,503,062             ( 966,291)  58,959,823
  
  Segment liabilities  35,205,704  21,423,772             ( 713,785)  55,915,691
 
  Other segment items:

      Capital expenditure  14,032  3,328   17,360

      Depreciation  24,233  1,964   26,197

      Loan loss expense  1,944  -   1,944
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28  PENSION FUND

A defined contribution superannuation fund (“The Fund”) was established for the purpose of securing pensions on retirement 
for the qualified present and future employees of the Group. Under the plan, employees who are members of the Fund will 
contribute 5% of earnings (as defined), as a basic contribution and have the option to contribute an additional amount of 5%. 
The Group contributes at a rate of 5% of members’ earnings (as defined). (See note 20).

Retirement benefits payable by the Fund will be based on the contributions made to the Fund together with investment 
earnings thereon.

29  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

 (a)  The following transactions were carried out with related parties including associated companies  and the 
  Bank’s parent company:
                          �

     2005  2004  2005  2004
     $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
   Interest income  -  -  94,714  100,886
   Fee income  -  -  -  42,181
   Preference dividends received  -  -  13,904  34,776
   Management fees paid  24,000  24,000  24,000  24,000
   Interest expense  24,193  40,197  22,308  17,171
   Gain on sale of available-for-
      sale securities 262,431 - 262,431 -

  Year end balances with related parties are as follows:
      The Group                             The Bank
     2005  2004  2005  2004
     $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
   Securities sold under
      repurchase agreements 50,415 107,262 50,415 32,277
   Securities purchased under
      resale agreements - - 452,622 644,860
   Deposits  17,867  205,481  17,867  205,481

  These transactions occurred in the normal course of business.

 (b)  The following transactions were carried out with related parties including Directors, key management personnel and  
  their close family members and companies connected by virtue of common directorship.

      The Group                              The Bank

     2005  2004  2005  2004
     $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
   Salaries and other short term benefits
    Directors  32,987  27,473  17,509  13,789
    Management Personnel  70,563  68,936  43,611  44,430
     103,550  96,409  61,120  58,219
   Interest expense
   Securities sold under repurchase agreements
    Directors  7,418  501  -  -
    Management Personnel  414  172  -  -
    Parties connected to Directors and Management  1,181  -  -  -
     9,013  673  -  -
   Interest expense
   Deposits
    Directors  1,664  -  1,664  -
    Management Personnel  581  243  581  243
    Parties connected to Directors and Management  2,830  1,856  2,830  1,856
     5,075  2,099  5,075  2,099
   Interest income
   Loans
    Directors  299  149  299  149
    Management Personnel  2,833  1,682  2,833  1,682
     3,132  1,831  3,132  1,831
   Other operating expenses
    Parties connected to Directors and Management  2,341  3,013  2,341  3,013

   Year end balances with related parties are as follows:
 
   Deposits
    Directors  17,734  -  17,734  -
    Management Personnel  11,183  2,318  11,183  2,318
    Parties connected to Directors and Management  22,337  28,464  22,337  28,464
     51,254  30,782  51,254  30,782
   Loans
    Directors  6,175  500  6,175  500
    Management Personnel  27,700  18,162  27,700  18,162
     33,875  18,662  33,875  18,662
   Securities sold under repurchase agreements
    Directors  73,057  4,527 - -
    Management Personnel  529  233  -  -
     73,586  4,760  -  -
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29  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (Cont’d)

 (c)  Directors and key management personnel of the Group and their immediate relatives directly control    
  approximately 2.19% (2004 - 2.23%) of the voting shares of the Bank.

30  FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing 
parties in an arm’s length transaction. A market price, where an active market (such as a recognized stock exchange) exists, 
is the best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument. Market prices are not available for some of the financial 
assets and liabilities of the Group. Fair values in the financial statements have therefore been estimated using present 
values or other estimation and valuation techniques based on market conditions existing at balance sheet date. Generally, 
considerable judgement is necessarily required in interpreting market data to develop estimates of fair value. Accordingly, 
the estimates presented in these financial statements are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Group would 
realise in a current market exchange.

The following methods and assumptions have been used:

(i)  investment in securities classified as trading or available-for-sale are measured at fair value by reference to 
  quoted market prices where available. If quoted market prices are not available, then fair values are estimated 
  on the basis of pricing models or other recognized valuation techniques;

(ii)  the fair value of liquid assets and other assets maturing within one year is assumed to approximate their 
  carrying amounts. This assumption is applied to liquid assets and the short-term elements of all other financial 
  assets and financial liabilities;

(iii)  the fair value of demand deposits and other accounts with no specific maturity is assumed to be the amount 
  payable on demand at the balance sheet date;

(iv)  the fair value of variable rate financial instruments is assumed to approximate their carrying amounts; and

(v)  the fair value of fixed rate loans is estimated by comparing market interest rates when the loans were granted 
  with current market rates offered on similar loans. For match-funded loans the fair value is assumed to be 
  equal to their carrying value, as gains and losses offset each other. Changes in the credit quality of loans 
  within the portfolio are not taken into account in determining gross fair values as the impact of credit risk is 
  recognised separately by deducting the amount of the provisions for credit losses from both book 
  and fair values.

 The following tables present the fair value of financial instruments based on the above-mentioned valuation methods 
 and  assumptions. The following financial assets are not carried at fair value:
                                                                                                            The Group

  Carrying   Fair   Carrying   Fair
  Value   Value   Value   Value
  2005  2005  2004  2004
  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
 Financial Assets
    Investment in securities
    - Held to maturity  -  -  1,972,816  2,112,985

  
                             The Bank
  Carrying   Fair   Carrying   Fair
  Value   Value   Value   Value
  2005  2005  2004  2004
  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
 Financial Assets
    Investment in securities
    - Held to maturity  -  -  1,365,349  1,470,954
    - Investment in subsidiaries  305,406  1,304,420  375,406  991,104

31  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

By their nature, the Group’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments.  The Group accepts 
deposits from customers at both fixed and floating rates and for various periods, and actively manages its interest rate 
exposures with the objective of enhancing net interest income within prudent risk tolerances.

The Group also seeks to increase these margins by consolidating short-term funds and investing for longer periods at higher 
rates while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that may fall due. 

The Group also seeks to raise its interest margins by obtaining competitive margins, net of provisions, through lending to 
commercial and retail borrowers with a range of credit standing. Such exposures involve not just loans and advances; the 
Group also enters into guarantees and other commitments such as letters of credit.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

The Group also trades in financial instruments where it takes positions to take advantage of short-term market movements in securities prices 
and in foreign exchange and interest rates. The Board places trading limits on the level of exposure that can be taken in relation to both 
overnight and intra-day market positions.

(a)   Interest rate risk

The Group and the Bank are exposed to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial 
position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase or decrease as a result of such changes and create losses in the event that 
unexpected movements arise. The management sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken. 
This is monitored on a periodic basis.

  (i)  The following tables summarise carrying amounts of balance sheet assets, liabilities and equity in order to arrive at the Group’s         
    interest rate gap based on earlier of contractual repricing or maturity dates.
        The Group
          Non-
     Within 1 1 to 3   3 to 12   1 to 5    Over 5   Interest
     Month   Months   Months   Years   Years   Securities   Total
     $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
 Assets
  Cash resources  896,925  -  -  -  -  -  896,925
  Investment in securities
  - Trading  244,647  456,265  -  1,231,423  -  162,223  2,094,558
  - Available for sale  6,045,418  6,141,391  2,578,040  15,828,524  14,100,046  439,468  45,132,887
  Loans after provision
   for loan losses  497,229  25,694  643,959  678,707  798,194  -  2,643,783
  Deferred tax assets  -  -  -  -  -  67,081  67,081
  Other assets  -  -  -  -  -  1,977,864  1,977,864
  Goodwill on consolidation  -  -  -  -  -  140,146  140,146
  
 Total    7,684,219  6,623,350  3,221,999  17,738,654  14,898,240  2,786,782  52,953,244

 Liabilities and
    Stockholders’ equity
 Deposits   1,859,309  1,006,369  1,905,648  50,029  -  -  4,821,355
 Securities sold under
    repurchase agreements  28,734,185  6,242,867  4,541,255  60,705  -  -  39,579,012
 Loan participation  459,040  392,693  141,019  - -  -  992,752
 Due to other financial
    institutions  471,444  -  653,204  541,994  -  -  1,666,642
 Other liabilities  -  - -  -  - 1,223,461  1,223,461
 Stockholders’ equity  -  -  -  -  -  4,670,022  4,670,022
 
 Total    31,523,978  7,641,929  7,241,126  652,728  -  5,893,483  52,953,244

 Interest sensitivity gap                (  23,839,759)        (  1,018,579 )      (  4,019,127 )  17,085,926  14,898,240     (    3,106,701)  -
 Cumulative interest
    sensitivity gap                        ( 23,839,759)        ( 24,858,338)      ( 28,877,465)        ( 11,791,539)  3,106,701  -

  2004
 Interest sensitivity gap                 (      514,731)       (  14,119,645)       ( 10,512,291)  13,614,449  12,870,440     (   1,338,222)
 
 Cumulative interest
    sensitivity gap  ( 514,731)  (14,634,376)  (25,146,667)  (11,532,218)  1,338,222  -
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(a)   Interest rate risk (Cont’d)
(i)    (Cont’d)

                                                                                                                      The Bank 
         Non- 
    Within 1 1 to 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5  Interest
    Month Months Months Years Years Securities Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
   Assets
  Cash resources  820,421  -  -  -  -  -  820,421
  Investment in securities
     - Available-for-sale  1,716,269  2,068,345  517,078  11,318,808  10,727,951  409,228  26,757,679
  Securities purchased under
     resale agreements  452,622  -  -  -  -  -  452,622
  Investment in subsidiaries  -  -  -  -  -  305,406  305,406
  Loans after provision for
     losses  497,229  25,694  643,959  678,707  798,194  -  2,643,783
  Deferred tax assets  -  -  -  -  -  129,592  129,592
  Other assets  -  -  -  -  -  992,391  992,391

  Total  3,486,541  2,094,039  1,161,037  11,997,515  11,526,145  1,836,617  32,101,894

  Liabilities and
     Stockholders’ equity
  Deposits  1,859,309  1,006,369  1,905,648  50,029  -  -  4,821,355
  Securities sold under
     repurchase agreements  16,036,589  2,275,326  2,137,459  6,548  -  -  20,455,922
  Loan participation  459,040  392,693  141,019  -  -  -  992,752
  Due to other financial
     institutions  471,444  -  653,204  541,994  -  -  1,666,642
  Other liabilities  -  -  -  -  -  633,561 633,561
  Stockholders’ equity  -  -  -  -  -  3,531,662  3,531,662

  Total  18,826,382  3,674,388  4,837,330  598,571  -  4,165,223  32,101,894
 

  Interest sensitivity gap  (15,339,841)  ( 1,580,349)  ( 3,676,293)  11,398,944  11,526,145  (2,328,606)  -
 
  Cumulative interest
     sensitivity gap  (15,339,841)  (16,920,190)  (20,596,483)  ( 9,197,539)  2,328,606  -

   2004

  Interest sensitivity gap  2,738,666  (5,964,029)  (14,266,664)  6,779,603  11,091,022  ( 378,598)
  
  Cumulative interest
     sensitivity gap  2,738,666  (3,225,363)  (17,492,027)  (10,712,424)  378,598  -
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

 (a)    Interest rate risk (Cont’d)
  (ii) Average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates:
   

                                                                                        The Group 

                                                               2005 
    Immediately     
    Rate Within 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5
    Sensitive 3 Months Months  Years Years Average
    % % % % % %
      
   Cash resources  1.76  -  -  -  -  1.76
   Investment in securities (1)
   - Trading  18.96  16.28  -  10.50  -  11.93
   - Available-for-sale  14.79  15.19  14.01  6.79  9.24  10.12
   Loans (2)  16.20  15.77  15.13  15.95  15.50  15.66
   Deposits (3)  7.23  7.59  7.98  7.81  -  7.61
   Securities sold under
   repurchase agreements  7.63  8.77  8.93  13.03  -  7.97
   Loan participation  9.76  10.12  11.16  -  -  10.10
   Due to other financial
   institutions 7.18 - 3.08 7.55 - 5.69

                                                                                        The Group    

                                                                                             2004   
    Immediately     
    Rate Within 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5 
    Sensitive 3 Months Months Years Years Average
    % % % % % %
      
   Cash resources  1.41  -  -  -  -  1.41
   Investment in securities (1)
   - Trading  15.15  16.29  16.79  11.40  -  14.51
   - Available-for-sale  17.12  17.59  14.87  8.54  6.45  9.06
   - Held-to-maturity  -  -  -  11.87  11.75  11.76
   Loans (2)  14.31  17.45  12.68  15.47  14.78  15.10
   Deposits (3)  7.72  8.29  6.78  15.01  -  7.51
   Securities sold under
      repurchase agreements  8.79  11.04  12.91  8.89  -  10.36
   Loan participation  8.72  10.85  8.32  -  -  9.76
   Due to other financial
     institutions 0.07 2.10 1.96 4.04 4.75 2.62 

  (1)  Yields are based on book values and contractual interest adjusted for amortisation of premiums and discounts. 
   Yields on tax-exempt investments have not been computed on a taxable equivalent basis.

  (2)  Yields are based on book values, net of allowance for credit losses and contractual interest rates.

  (3)  Yields are based on contractual interest rates.

Statement X.23

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

65.



31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

 (a)    Interest rate risk (Cont’d)
  (ii) Average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates:
   

                                                                                        The Group 

                                                               2005 
    Immediately     
    Rate Within 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5
    Sensitive 3 Months Months  Years Years Average
    % % % % % %
      
   Cash resources  1.76  -  -  -  -  1.76
   Investment in securities (1)
   - Trading  18.96  16.28  -  10.50  -  11.93
   - Available-for-sale  14.79  15.19  14.01  6.79  9.24  10.12
   Loans (2)  16.20  15.77  15.13  15.95  15.50  15.66
   Deposits (3)  7.23  7.59  7.98  7.81  -  7.61
   Securities sold under
   repurchase agreements  7.63  8.77  8.93  13.03  -  7.97
   Loan participation  9.76  10.12  11.16  -  -  10.10
   Due to other financial
   institutions 7.18 - 3.08 7.55 - 5.69

                                                                                        The Group    

                                                                                             2004   
    Immediately     
    Rate Within 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5 
    Sensitive 3 Months Months Years Years Average
    % % % % % %
      
   Cash resources  1.41  -  -  -  -  1.41
   Investment in securities (1)
   - Trading  15.15  16.29  16.79  11.40  -  14.51
   - Available-for-sale  17.12  17.59  14.87  8.54  6.45  9.06
   - Held-to-maturity  -  -  -  11.87  11.75  11.76
   Loans (2)  14.31  17.45  12.68  15.47  14.78  15.10
   Deposits (3)  7.72  8.29  6.78  15.01  -  7.51
   Securities sold under
      repurchase agreements  8.79  11.04  12.91  8.89  -  10.36
   Loan participation  8.72  10.85  8.32  -  -  9.76
   Due to other financial
     institutions 0.07 2.10 1.96 4.04 4.75 2.62 

  (1)  Yields are based on book values and contractual interest adjusted for amortisation of premiums and discounts. 
   Yields on tax-exempt investments have not been computed on a taxable equivalent basis.

  (2)  Yields are based on book values, net of allowance for credit losses and contractual interest rates.

  (3)  Yields are based on contractual interest rates.

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

 (a)    Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

  (ii) Average effective yields by the earlier of the contractual repricing or maturity dates:
   

                                                                                        The Bank 

                                                               2005 
    Immediately     
    Rate Within 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5
    Sensitive 3 Months Months  Years Years Average
    % % % % % %
      
          
  Cash resources  1.91  -  -  -  -  1.91 
  Investment in securities (1)       
  - Available-for-sale  15.63  15.57  13.06  4.64  8.9  7.99 
  Securities purchased under       
        resale agreements  8.73  -  -  -  -  8.73 
  Loans (2)  16.20  15.77  15.13  15.95  15.50  15.16 
  Deposits (3)  7.23  7.59  7.98  7.81  -  7.61 
  Securities sold under       
        repurchase agreements  5.60  5.89  6.71  16.50  -  5.75 
  Loan participation  9.76  10.12  11.16  -  -  10.10 
  Due to other financial  
       institutions  7.18  -  3.08  7.55  -  5.69 

                                                                                        The Bank    

                                                                                             2004   
    Immediately     
    Rate Within 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5 
    Sensitive 3 Months Months Years Years Average
    % % % % % %
      
  Cash resources  1.43  -  -  -  -  1.43 
  Investment in securities (1)       
  - Available-for-sale  33.50  19.91  13.72  6.27  6.97  5.88 
  - Held-to-maturity  -  -  -  11.10  11.75  11.71 
  Securities purchased under       
        resale agreements  6.31  17.93  17.35  -  -  15.15 
  Loans (2)  14.31  17.45  12.68  15.47  14.78  15.10 
  Deposits (3)  7.72  8.29  6.78  15.01  -  7.51 
  Securities sold under       
        repurchase agreements  6.72  9.06  8.73  16.74  -  7.33 
  Loan participation  8.72  10.85  8.32  -  -  9.76 
  Due to other financial  
       institutions  1.43  2.10  1.96  4.04  4.75  2.65 

  (1)  Yields are based on book values and contractual interest adjusted for amortisation of premiums and discounts. 
   Yields on tax-exempt investments have not been computed on a taxable equivalent basis.

  (2)  Yields are based on book values, net of allowance for credit losses and contractual interest rates.

  (3)  Yields are based on contractual interest rates.
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

((b)  Foreign currency risks

Foreign currency risk is incurred on transactions that are denominated in a currency other than the Jamaican dollar. 
The main currencies giving rise to the risk are the United States dollar, the Canadian dollar, the British Pound and 
the Euro.

Net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by matching foreign assets with liabilities as far as possible.

The following foreign currency balances are included in these financial statements:

                                                                                          The Group
                 2005                                            2004
   US$  Cdn$  £  € US$  Cdn$  £  €
   ’000  ’000  ’000  ‘000  ’000  ’000  ’000  ‘000

 Total assets  517,253  736  1,208  278  768,942  1,259  1,997  23,502
 Total liabilities          (530,478)    (1,264)       ( 755)      ( 27)                (779,240)      ( 632)     (1,523)    (22,197)
 Net exposure            (  13,225)    (  528)  453  251                ( 10,298)  627  474  1,305

                                                                                         The Bank
                 2005                                            2004
   US$  Cdn$  £  € US$  Cdn$  £  €
   ‘000  ‘000  ‘000  ‘000  ‘000  ‘000  ‘000  ‘000

 Total assets  374,296  736  1,208  278  594,160  1,259  1,997  23,408
 Total liabilities          ( 390,470)  (1,264)  ( 755)  ( 27)  (611,056)  ( 632)  (1,523)  (22,197)
 Net exposure            (  16,174)  ( 528)  453  251  ( 16,896)  627  474  1,211

(c)  Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of default by an obligator. The risk is managed primarily by reviews of the financial status of 
each obligator. The primary concentration of the Group’s credit risks relates to investments in government securities. 
In respect of loans, the exposure is to a number of individuals and businesses in different sectors and geographic 
areas and this, in effect, mitigates the credit risk.

The following table summarises the credit exposure to businesses and governments by sector:

       The Group and the Bank
      2005    2004
      $’000    $’000
 Construction, land development and real estate acquisition 617,230   409,935
 Distribution      292,736    206,822
  Electricity, gas & water     174,370    165,863
 Financial institutions      8,959    190,140
 Government and public entities     322,907    558,150
 Manufacturing      50,561    71,651
 Personal      627,143    271,950
 Professional and other services     388,251    302,791
 Tourism and entertainment     110,160    148,858
  Transport, storage and communication    72,347    335,269
 
 Total      2,664,664    2,661,429
 Total provision      20,881    30,494
 
 Net      2,643,783    2,630,935
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Statement X.2631 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)     

(d)  Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to calls on its available cash resources from overnight deposits, maturing deposits, loan draw 
downs and guarantees. The Group does not maintain cash resources to meet all of these needs as experience shows 
that a level of reinvestment of maturing funds can be predicted with a high level of certainty.

The tables below analyse assets and liabilities of the Group into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining 
period at balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date.
The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities is fundamental 
to the management of the Group. It is unusual for financial institutions ever to be completely matched since business 
transacted is often of uncertain terms and of different types.

The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing liabilities as 
they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to changes in interest and 
exchange rates.

                                                                                        The Group 
                                                                                Remaining Term to Maturity 
    Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5
    Months Months Years Years Total  
        2005  
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

  Assets
  Cash Resources  896,925  -  -  -  896,925
  Investment in securities
     - Trading  700,912  -  1,231,423  162,223  2,094,558
     - Available-for-sale  12,186,809  2,578,040  15,828,524  14,539,514  45,132,887
  Loans after provision for
     loan losses  522,923  643,959  678,707  798,194  2,643,783
  Deferred tax assets  -  -  67,081  -  67,081
  Other assets  1,814,163  -  -  163,701  1,977,864
  Goodwill on consolidation  -  -  -  140,146  140,146

  Total  16,121,732  3,221,999  17,805,735  15,803,778  52,953,244

  Liabilities and
    Stockholders’ equity
  Deposits  2,865,678  1,905,648  50,029  -  4,821,355
  Securities sold under
     repurchase agreements  34,977,052  4,541,255  60,705  -  39,579,012
  Loan participation  851,733  141,019  -  -  992,752
  Due to other financial
    institutions  471,444  653,204  541,994  -  1,666,642
  Other liabilities  1,223,461  -  -  -  1,223,461
  Stockholders’ equity  -  -  -  4,670,022  4,670,022

  Total  40,389,368  7,241,126  652,728  4,670,022  52,953,244
  

  Total Liquidity Gap               (24,267,636)      ( 4,019,127)  17,153,007  11,133,756  -

  Cumulative Gap                   (24,267,636)     (28,286,763)    (11,133,756)  -

  2004
  
  Total Liquidity Gap               (13,936,508)     (10,512,291)  13,427,516       (11,021,283)

  Cumulative Liquidity Gap       (13,936,508)     (24,448,799)    (11,021,283)  -   
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31        FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

 (d) Liquidity risk (Cont’d)
          
                     The Bank   
       Remaining Term to Maturity
          
     Within 3 3 to 12 1 to 5 Over 5
     Months Months Years Years Total
         2005
     $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 
  Assets
  Cash Resources  820,421  -  -  -  820,421
  Investment in securities
       - Available-for-sale  3,784,614  517,078  11,318,808  11,137,179  26,757,679
  Securities purchased under
        resale agreements 452,622 - - - 452,622
  Investment in subsidiaries  -  -  -  305,406  305,406
  Loans after provision for
       loan losses  522,923 643,959 678,707 798,194 2,643,783
  Deferred tax assets  -  -  129,592  -  129,592
  Other assets   853,574  -  -  138,817  992,391

  Total Assets   6,434,154  1,161,037  12,127,107  12,379,596  32,101,894

  Liabilities and
      Stockholders’ equity
  Deposits   2,865,678  1,905,648  50,029  -  4,821,355
  Securities sold under
       repurchase agreements 18,311,915 2,137,459 6,548 - 20,455,922
  Loan participation  851,733  141,019  -  -  992,752
  Due to other financial
       institutions  471,444 653,204 541,994 - 1,666,642
  Other liabilities  633,561  -  -  - 633,561
  Stockholders’ equity  -  -  -  3,531,662  3,531,662

  Total liabilities and
   Stockholders’ equity 23,134,331 4,837,330 598,571 3,531,662 32,101,894

  Total Liquidity Gap  (16,700,177)  ( 3,676,293)  11,528,536  8,847,934  -

  Cumulative Gap  (16,700,177)  (20,376,470)  ( 8,847,934)  -

  2004

  Total Liquidity Gap  ( 3,005,470)  (14,266,664)  7,098,660  10,173,474

  Cumulative Liquidity Gap  ( 3,005,470)  (17,272,134)  (10,173,474)  -
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32  CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
 
 (a)  Litigation

The Bank and its subsidiaries are subject to claims, disputes and legal proceedings in the normal course of business. 
Provision is made for such matters when in the opinion of management and its legal advice, that it is probable that a 
payment will be made and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

Both the Bank and the subsidiary, Capital & Credit Fund Managers Limited (formerly Jamaica Unit Trust Services 
Limited) are involved in legal proceedings at this time. Based on legal advice, the Directors are of the opinion that the 
outcome will have no material effect on the financial position of the Group.

 (b)  Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure authorized and contracted for at balance sheet date but not recognized in the financial statements 
amounted to $176,000,000 (2004: Nil).

 (c)  Operating Leases

The Group has entered into lease agreements for office space expiring April 2007, June 2007, January 2008 and 
August 2009 and for motor vehicles expiring March 2006, April 2006, February 2007 and July 2007. The amount 
charged to income during the year was $24,564,000 (2004: $16,895,000).

  The total annual rentals to be paid are as follows:

     
 The Group  The Bank

 $’000  $’000

2006  23,169  18,378
2007  17,532  14,561
2008  12,726  10,531
2009  7,321  7,321

33         DIVIDENDS
 2005  2004

 $’000  $’000

Interim dividends paid  58,880  88,320

Interim dividend declared  96,174  -

On December 16, 2005, the Directors approved the payment of a second interim dividend of 15 cents per stock unit 
to stockholders on record as at December 30, 2005 payable on January 26, 2006. This dividend was accrued as at 
December 31, 2005. 
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CAPITAL & CREDIT MERCHANT BANK LIMITED

I/WE ________________________________________________________________________ 

of ________________________________________________ being a member/members of the 

above-named Company HEREBY APPOINT the Chairman of the meeting or failing him

___________________________________ of ________________________________________

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting to be held in the Belisario 

Suite, Jamaica Pegasus Hotel, 77 Knutsford Boulevard, Kingston 5 on Tuesday, the 9th day of May, 2006 at 

10:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

Please indicate with an X in the spaces below how you wish your votes to be cast. 

 ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS      FOR  AGAINST

 No 1 - To receive the Report of the 
 Auditors and the Consolidated Audited Accounts  

 No 2 - To declare the Interim Dividends 
 paid for the year as final  

 No 3 (a) - To re-elect Andrew Cocking a Director  

 No 3 (b) - To re-elect Ryland T. Campbell a Director  

 No 4 – To approve the fees paid to Directors for the year  

 No 5 – To re-appoint the retiring Auditors
  

   SIGNATURE: ___________________________

  Affix $100
  Stamp here

    SIGNED this __________________ day of _______________________ 2006
    

See Notes attached.
1.  A Member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his stead. If such 
 an appointment is made, delete the words “the Chairman of the meeting” and insert the name of the person 
 appointed in the space provided.
2.  If the appointer is a corporation, this form must be under its common seal or under the hand of some 
 officer or attorney duly authorized in that behalf.
3.  In the case of joint holders, the signature of any one holder will be sufficient, but the names of all the 
 joint holders should be stated. 
4.  If the form is returned without any indication as to how the person appointed proxy shall vote, the proxy 
 shall exercise his discretion as to how he votes or whether to abstain from voting.
5.  To be valid, this form must be completed and lodged at the office of the Company’s Registrar & Transfer 
 Agent, KPMG Regulatory & Compliance Services, 6 Duke Street, Kingston, Jamaica, not less than forty-
 eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding of the meeting.
6.  A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

 FORM OF PROXY
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